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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET
("GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a high investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the
potential risks of investing in such companies and should make
the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.
The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean
that it is a market more suited to professional and other
sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there
is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible
to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid
market in the securities traded on GEM.

The principal means of information dissemination on GEM is
publication on the Internet website operated by the Stock
Exchange. Listed companies are not generally required to
issue paid announcements in gazette newspapers. Accordingly,
prospective investors should note that they need to have
access to the GEM website at www.hkgem.com in order to
obtain up-to-date information on GEM-listed issuers.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from
on or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors of ZMAY Holdings Limited
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange for the purpose
of giving information with regard to ZMAY Holdings Limited. The
directors of ZMAY Holdings Limited, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief:
(1) the information contained in this report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading, (2) there are no other
matters the omission of which would make any statement in this
report misleading, and (3) all opinions expressed in this report have
been arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded
on bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Chu Hon Pong (Chairman)
Mr. Lam Wing Tai (appointed on 19 October 2009)
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau (appointed on 19 October 2009
as a non-executive director and redesignated
as executive director on 30 November 2009)
Mr. Law Kwok Chung (resigned on 17 November 2009)
Dr. Neil Kai Gu (resigned on 30 November 2009)
Ms. Tong Pui Chi, Lucia (resigned on 30 November 2009)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth (appointed on 1 January 2010)

Dr. Wong Yun Kuen (appointed on 20 November 2009)

Mr. Man Kwok Leung (appointed on 20 November 2009)

Mr. Loke Che Chan, Gilbert (appointed on 18 September 2009
and resigned on 1 January 2010)

Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam) (resigned on 18 September 2009)

Mr. Chu Kar Wing (resigned on 20 November 2009)

Mr. Ku Ling Yu, John (resigned on 20 November 2009)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe (appointed on 17 November 2009)
Mr. Law Kwok Chung (resigned on 17 November 2009)

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Lam Wing Tai (appointed on 17 November 2009)
Ms. Tong Pui Chi, Lucia (resigned on 17 November 2009)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Lam Wing Tai (appointed on 17 November 2009)

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe (appointed on 17 November 2009)
Ms. Tong Pui Chi, Lucia (resigned on 17 November 2009)
Mr. Law Kwok Chung (resigned on 17 November 2009)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth (appointed on 1 January 2010)

Dr. Wong Yun Kuen (appointed on 20 November 2009)

Mr. Man Kwok Leung (appointed on 20 November 2009)

Mr. Loke Che Chan, Gilbert (appointed on 18 September 2009
and resigned on 1 January 2010)

Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam) (resigned on 18 September 2009)

Mr. Chu Kar Wing (resigned on 20 November 2009)

Mr. Ku Ling Yu, John (resigned on 20 November 2009)

ANNUAL REPORT 2010 3R

EEg

BITES

REALE (FE)

MARLER-EENFTATNAEZE)

BAREE (R-FEENFTATAAEZER
FUTEERR-FEAFT-A=1H
HEBHTEE)

BRAREE (R-FENFF-ATLARE)

B XBL (R-FEEANF1+-A=THRE)

BmMZMNE(R-FEANF—-A=+HAFE)

BUFHUTES

FRUAE (R-F-FF-F—-AEZ)

BRRERL (R-EENF-A-1THEZ)

BERAE (R-FENF-A-1+HEZE)

BEBRBLE(R-FEANFAAT/NAEZLLR
R-F—FF—F—HEHE)

BEmEL (R=FFENFAFTNHARE)

RERNE(R-FEAFF A=+ HFE)

BRELEE (R-FEENFF-A=THFE)

DAWE
BkBEE (R-FENFF-ATLAEZE)
BRLEE (R-FENFF-ATLABRE)

BRI
MRREE(R-EENF AT LAEZME)
BmMZMNE(R-FEANF—-F+LAFE)

EERER
MEAREE(RZZ2ZNF+-A+LREZME)
BEkEitE (R=ZZEAF+-ATLBEZRME)
EMZNME(R=-ZZAF+-A+LBEHME)
EEALE (R-ZEZAF+-ATLEHME)
ERZES

FRUAE (R-F-FF-F—-AEZM)
BRERL (R-EENFF A1 HEZ)
BERAE (R-FENF-A-1+HEZE)
BEBRBLER-FENFAAT/NAEZRLR
R-F—FF—F—HEHE)
BEMEL (R=FFENFAFT/NHARE)
RERNE(R-FEAFF A=+ HFE)
BRELSE (R-FEENF-A=1THFE)



qzaaa;» BRERAD
SZT

. Ayf ?‘r

ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED
. 7 e

C-OIRPORATE INFORMATION NCT QI‘«I

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Chui Kwong Kau (appointed on 1 December 2009)

Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth (appointed on 1 January 2010)

Dr. Wong Yun Kuen (appointed on 20 November 2009)

Mr. Man Kwok Leung (appointed on 20 November 2009)

Mr. Loke Che Chan, Gilbert (appointed on 18 September 2009
and resigned on 1 January 2010)

Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam) (resigned on 18 September 2009)

Mr. Chu Kar Wing (resigned on 20 November 2009)

Mr. Ku Ling Yu, John (resigned on 20 November 2009)

Ms. Tong Pui Chi, Lucia (resigned on 30 November 2009)

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
Pan-China (H.K.) CPA Limited (formerly known as
“NCN CPA Limited”)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

British West Indies

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Cayman) Limited

Butterfield House, 68 Fort Street

P.0. Box 609

Grand Cayman KY1-1107

Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Unit 1206A, 12th Floor

West Tower, Shun Tak Centre

168-200 Connaught Road Central

Sheung Wan

Hong Kong
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Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

British West Indies
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Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Cayman) Limited
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P.O. Box 609

Grand Cayman KY1-1107

Cayman Islands
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HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR & TRANSFER
OFFICE

Tricor Standard Limited

26th Floor

Tesbury Centre

28 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

WEBSITE ADDRESS
http://www.zmayholdings.com
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CHAIRMANIS STATEMENT Elﬁf#ﬁﬂ:

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
ZMAY Holdings Limited (the {Company”), | am pleased to present the
annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2010.

The Group continued to focus on the sale of healthcare products in
Hong Kong and the funeral and related businesses in the People’s
Republic of China (the "PRC") for the year.

During the year, the Company conducted an equity fund raising
activities by means of placing the new shares. Net proceeds of the
placing the new shares were approximately HK$88 million. It is in
the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole to
raise equity capital to strengthen the Group’s financial position and
enlarge its capital base.

APPRECIATIONS

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express our sincere gratitude to all our equity holders, customers,
business partners who have been offering their support, confidence
and encouragement to us. Not to mention the great devotion,
diligence and effort of the management and the members of staff
who tirelessly committed themselves in striving for improvements
of the Group. With all these supports remain, we shall continue to
explore means to improve the Group's performance and provide
investment returns to the investors.

Chu Hon Pong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2010
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS ""IEJE*T 1‘

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group recorded a turnover of
approximately HK$74,505,000 (2009: HK$55,720,000), representing
an increase of 33.7% as compared to last year. The administrative
and operating expenses for the year amounted to approximately
HK$40,942,000 (2009: HK$37,955,000).

The loss attributable to the owners of the Company was
approximately HK$39,769,000 (2009: HK$6,290,000) including the
goodwill impairment charges of HK$20,473,000 (2009: Nil). The loss
per share was 3.15 HK cents (2009: 0.54 HK cents).

Sale of healthcare products

The turnover of healthcare products for the year amounted to
approximately HK$21,300,000 (2009: HK$19,566,000) and
accounted for 28.6% (2009: 35.1%) of the Group’s total turnover,
representing an increase of 8.9% as compared to last year. The sale
of healthcare products segment recorded a loss of HK$94,000 (2009:
HK$851,000).

Funeral and related businesses

The Group had acquired four cemetery companies in July 2008,
the turnover of funeral and related businesses for the year was
HK$53,205,000 (2009: HK$36,154,000) and accounted for 71.4%
(2009: 64.9%) of the Group’s total turnover, an increase of 47.2%
as compared to last year. The funeral and related businesses segment
recorded a loss of HK$41,756,000 (2009: profit of HK$5,855,000).
The loss was mainly due to (i) the impairment loss on goodwill in
relation to investments in the funeral and related business operations
in the PRC and (ii) provision for impairment losses of other
receivables in relating to the expected recoverable amount less than
its carrying amount.

PROSPECTS

The turnover of healthcare products business as at 31 March 2010
was HK$21,300,000 (2009: HK$19,566,000), representing an
increase of 8.9%. Due to the cost control, the healthcare products
business reduced its loss to HK$94,000 (2009: HK$851,000). We will
continue to focus on the cost control of healthcare products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS ""IE SE SR

The turnover of funeral and related businesses as at 31 March
2010 was HK$53,205,000 (2009: HK$36,154,000), representing
an increase of 47.2%. However, the result of this business segment
had a loss of HK$41,756,000 as at 31 March 2010 (2009: profit
of HK$5,855,000). The Group will continue to consolidated quality
cemeteries and funeral parlors in the mainland.

Going forward, the Board will explore other investment opportunities
to expand and diversify its portfolio.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2010, the total net current assets of the Group were
approximately HK$156,326,000 (2009: HK$93,833,000). The cash
and cash equivalents was approximately HK$72,657,000 (2009:
HK$24,237,000) and accounted for 28% of the current assets (2009:
13.9%).

The bank borrowing for the year amounted to HK$3,412,000 (2009:
Nil), the interest expenses on bank borrowing wholly repayable
within one year were HK$161,000 (2009: HK$50,000).

As at 31 March 2010, the Group’s gearing ratio, being the ratio
of total liabilities to total assets, was approximately 26.8% (2009:
25.8%).

As at 31 March 2010, the number of warrants outstanding was
149,164,878 to subscribe for a total of 208,137,038 ordinary
shares. The subscription price of the bonus warrants was adjusted
to HK$0.43 (2009: HK$0.45). No bonus warrants were exercised
by warrant holders during the year ended 31 March 2010 (2009:
678,000 shares). In accordance with the terms and conditions of
the instrument dated 27 June 2007 constituting the Warrants,
the subscription rights attaching to the Warrants will expire on 30
June 2010. Details of information were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated on 20 May 2010 and the Company’s circular
dated on 26 May 2010.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 4 December 2009, the Company and Kingston Securities Limited
(the "Placing Agent”) entered into the Placing Agreement whereby
the Company has conditionally agreed to place, through the Placing
Agent and on a best effort basis, a maximum of 240,000,000 Placing
Shares at a price of HK$0.185 per Placing Share. The maximum net
proceeds of approximately HK$43.2 million from the Placing were
intended to be used for the general working capital of the Group.
The placing of new shares was completed and the aggregate of
240,000,000 shares had been issued on 6 January 2010. Details of
information and the meanings of the Capitalized terms used herein
were set out in the Company’s announcements dated on 4 December
2009 and 6 January 2010.

On 23 March 2010, the Company and the Placing Agent entered
into the Placing Agreement whereby the Company has conditionally
agreed to place, through the Placing Agent and on a best effort
basis, a maximum of 288,000,000 Placing Shares at a price
of HK$0.16 per Placing Share. The maximum net proceeds of
approximately HK$44.8 million from the Placing were intended to
be used for the general working capital of the Group and/or further
investment if suitable opportunities are identified in the future.
The placing of new shares was completed and the aggregate of
288,000,000 shares has been issued on 30 March 2010. Details of
information and the meanings of the Capitalized terms used herein
were set out in the Company’s announcements dated on 23 March
2010 and 30 March 2010.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly earns revenue and incurs costs in Hong Kong
Dollars and Renminbi and considers that the impact of foreign
exchange exposure of the Group is minimal.

CHARGE OF GROUP ASSETS
As at 31 March 2010, the Group did not have any material charge on
assets (2009: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 March 2010, the Group did not have any significant
investments.
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MANAGEMEN

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
As at 31 March 2010, the Group did not have any material
acquisitions or disposals.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

As at 31 March 2010, the Group employed a total of 240 (2009:
223) full-time employees in Hong Kong and PRC. During the year
ended 31 March 2010, the total remuneration to employees,
including Directors’ emoluments and retirement benefits
amounted to approximately HK$14,030,000 (2009: approximately
HK$14,316,000). The Group remunerates its employees based on
their performance, qualification, experience and the prevailing
industry practice.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2010, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (2009: Nil).
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS -

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chu Hon Pong, aged 60, is the Chairman of the Group. Mr. Chu
is responsible for overseeing the formulation of corporate strategy
of the Group. Mr. Chu joined the Group on 9 October 2007. Mr.
Chu holds a Master Degree of Business Administration from Stevens
Institute of Technology in New Jersey, the United States of America.
He is the Chairman of American Dream Parks & Entertainment
Group. His businesses covered land and property development and
trade of petroleum in the PRC, Hong Kong and Taiwan. He has
over 30 years' experience in direct investment, international trade,
manufacturing, business and industrial management in the PRC,
Hong Kong, Taiwan, Vietnam and the United States of America. He
has been the personal assistant to Mr. Robert Miller, the chairman
of Search Investment Holdings Limited and was designated as chief
executive officer and chairman to a listed Company and certain
corporations in Hong Kong and PRC. In the early 80's, he was
appointed as the factory manager in a joint venture steel factory,
namely Sino Master Steel Company Limited, in Shenzhen, PRC. In
the 90's, he was the founder of Vietnam Duty Free Industry. Mr. Chu
is an independent non-executive director of DVN (Holdings) Limited
(Stock code: 500), which is listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Lam Wing Tai, aged 43, joined the Company as an executive
Director in October 2009. He holds a Bachelor of Commerce Degree
in Australian National University. Mr. Lam is a member of the
Australia Society of Certified Public Accountants and an associate
member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Lam had worked for international accountancy firms and public listed
companies for many years. He has nearly 18-years’ experience in the
accounting and auditing field.

Mr. Chui Kwong Kau, aged 43, joined the Company as a non-
executive director in October 2009 and redesignated as an executive
director in November 2009. He has over 15 years’ experiences in
accounting and auditing fields including over 10 years’ accounting
and auditing experience in other public listed companies. He is an
executive director of China Energy Development Holdings Limited
(Stock code: 228), which is listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange. He is also an independent non-executive director of
Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited (Stock code: 8148), which is
listed on GEM.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Wong Yun Kuen, aged 52, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive director in November 2009. He received
his Ph.D. degree from Harvard University, and was “Distinguished
Visiting Scholar” at Wharton School of the University of
Pennsylvania. Dr. Wong has worked in financial industries in the
United States and Hong Kong for many years, and has considerable
experience in corporate finance, investment and derivative products.
He is a member of the Hong Kong Securities Institute. Dr. Wong is
an executive director of UBA Investments Limited (Stock code: 768),
and an independent non-executive director of Harmony Asset Limited
(Stock code: 428), Bauhaus International (Holdings) Limited (Stock
code: 483), Kaisun Energy Group Limited (Stock code: 8203), China
Yunnan Tin Minerals Group Company Limited (Stock code: 263),
Climax International Company Limited (Stock code: 439), Golden
Resorts Group Limited (Stock code: 1031), Kong Sun Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 295), Hua Yi Copper Holdings Limited (Stock
code: 559) and China Grand Forestry Green Resources Group Limited
(Stock code: 910). Dr. Wong was an independent non-executive
director of Grand Field Group Holdings Limited (Stock code:
115) from September 2004 to September 2009, Superb Summit
International Timber Company Limited (Stock code: 1228), from April
2007 to June 2010, China E-Learning Group Limited (Stock code:
8055) from August 2007 to June 2010 and Green Energy Group
Limited (Stock code: 979) from December 2009 to May 2010. All
the above said companies are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange and GEM.

Mr. Man Kwok Leung, aged 63, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive director in November 2009. He is a
solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong and a civil celebrant of
marriages. Mr. Man has extensive experience in the legal practice.
He had been appointed by Xinhua News Agency as a district
advisor from 1995 to 1997. He is currently appointed as a director
of Apleichau Kai Fong Primary School, the deputy chairman of
Apleichau Kai Fong Welfare Association, the secretary of Apleichau
Promotion of Tourism Association and the honorary legal advisor of
Junior Police Officers’ Association. Mr. Man is an independent non-
executive director of Climax International Company Limited (Stock
code: 439), Kong Sun Holdings Limited (Stock code: 295) and Hua
Yi Copper Holdings Limited (Stock code: 559), which are companies
listed on the main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth, aged 41, joined the Company as
an independent non-executive director in January 2010. He has
over 18 years of experience in accounting and financial control.
He holds a Bachelor of Accountancy Degree from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom, an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and an associate member of the Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators in the United Kingdom. Mr. Chi is
an executive director of two companies listed on main board of
the Stock Exchange namely Hua Yi Copper Holdings Limited (Stock
code: 559) and China Grand Forestry Green Resources Group Limited
(Stock code: 910); and an independent non-executive director of
Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited (Stock code: 8148 which is
listed on GEM). Mr. Chi was an executive director of Golden Resorts
Group Limited (Stock code: 1031) from 8 June 2005 to 29 March
2007 which is listed on main board of the Stock Exchange.
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OVERVIEW
The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in
the annual report for the year ended 31 March 2010.

It is always a key concern of the Company to have high standards of
corporate governance. It is important because the Board believes that
good quality corporate governance would assist the management to
monitor the Company’s business activities effectively and thus equity
holders’ interests will be well protected.

The Board will discuss the code provisions set out in the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the "CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 15 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and the Company’s compliance and
deviations throughout the year ended 31 March 2010.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealing as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Directors have complied with such code of conduct and the required
standard of dealings throughout the year ended 31 March 2010.

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors should
take decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

The Board currently comprises six members, consisting of three
executive directors and three independent non-executive directors.
Mr. Chu Hon Pong (“Mr. Chu"”), Mr. Lam Wing Tai (“Mr. Lam”) and
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau (“Mr. Chui"”) served as executive Directors for
the year ended 31 March 2010. Mr. Chui served as non-executive
Director for the period from 19 October 2009 to 29 November
2009. Mr. Chui redesignated to executive Director on 30 November
2009. Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth (“Mr. Chi”), Dr. Wong Yun Kuen
("Dr. Wong”) and Mr. Man Kwok Leung (“Mr. Man") served as
independent non-executive directors for the year ended 31 March
2010.

The Board meets at least four times a year to review the financial and
operating performance of the Group.
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There were 19 Board meetings held for the year ended 31 March
2010. Individual attendance of each Board member at these
meetings is as follows:

SR R PN I A=t
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I

BE-Z-FFE=FA=1—-HILFEEBTTIORE
E2eR REZEHREHEZSEE2BRNT

Attend/
Eligible to attend
HERY,
Name of Directors BEEpg REERERZRE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Chu REE 919
Mr. Lam (appointed on 19 October 2009) MrE (RZEENFFA+IHEZE) 15/16
Mr. Chui (appointed on 19 October 2009 BEE (R=FEFNEFTATINAEZES 15/16
as a non-executive director and redesignated as an HHTEERR -—EENEL—A=1HHAE
executive director on 30 November 2009) BHTEE)
Mr. Law Kwok Chung (resigned on 17 November 2009) BRELEE (R=BENFL—ATLHFHE) 3/6
Dr. Neil Kai Gu (resigned on 30 November 2009) BIAEL (R-ZZEENFL— A=+ HEFF) 0/9
Ms. Tong Pui Chi, Lucia (resigned on 30 November 2009)  BEMZ/NMA (R=ZFZEAF+—A=1HEFE) 6/9
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Chi (appointed on 1 January 2010) ZhE (R=-F-FEF—F—HEZHF) 5/7
Dr. Wong (appointed on 20 November 2009) BElt (R=FENEFL—A=THEZET) 7/13
Mr. Man (appointed on 20 November 2009) B, (RZEENFF—HAZ1THEZHF) 7/13
Mr. Loke Che Chan, Gilbert (appointed on 18 September ~ BEEZEELRE (R=FENFAA T/ HEZER 1710
2009 and resigned on 1 January 2010) R-E—FF—H—HET)
Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam) EEMEtT (RZZEZEAFENAF+ /AT 2/3
(resigned on 18 September 2009)
Mr. Chu Kar Wing (resigned on 20 November 2009) REREE (R=BEEAFT—A=THEE) 3/7
Mr. Ku Ling Yu, John (resigned on 20 November 2009) BRELE (R=ZZEZEAF+—-HA=1HEHE) 3/7

In compliance with Rules 5.01 and 5.02 of the GEM Listing Rules in
regarding to independent non-executive Directors (the "“INED(s)"),
the Company has currently three INEDs, namely Mr. Chi, Dr. Wong
and Mr. Man. Mr. Chi has the appropriate accounting expertise.
These INEDs can help the management to formulate the Group’s
development strategies, ensure the Board prepares its financial and
other mandatory reports in strict compliance with required standards,
and ensure the Company maintains appropriate system to protect
the interests of the Company and its equity holders. The Board has
received the annual confirmation in respect of their independence
from each of the INEDs, and believes that their independence is in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules at the date of this annual
report.
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DISTINCTIVE ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separated and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and
chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out in
writing.

Mr. Chu Hon Pong is the Chairman of the Company who is
responsible for managing the Board and overseeing the formulation
of corporate strategy of the Group. The chief executive officer of the
Company is responsible for the overall management and business
operations of the group. The chief executive officer of the Company
is vacated, the Board is in the process of locating an appropriate
person to fill the vacancy as soon as practicable.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Code Provisions A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject
to re-election.

All the independent non-executive Directors are not appointed for
a fixed term of office, but they are subject to the retirement by
rotation and shall be eligible for re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company in line with the Company's Articles of
Association.

The Code Provisions A.4.2 of the CG Code stipulates that every
director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Article 87 of the articles of association of the Company required
that every director of the Company shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

An audit committee was established with written terms of reference
in compliance with the relevant GEM Listing Rules. There are three
members in the audit committee comprising three INEDs, namely, Mr.
Chi, Dr. Wong and Mr. Man. Mr. Chi is the Chairperson of the audit
committee and a certified public accountants. The primary duties
of the audit committee are to review and provide supervision over
the financial reporting system and internal control procedures of the
Group and to review the Company’s annual report and accounts,
half-yearly report and quarterly reports and to provide advices and
comments thereon to the Board. The audit committee meets at
least four times a year with management and meets at least once
a year with external auditors to review the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and to discuss audit findings,
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internal control, accounting and financial reporting matters. The ZERWNT
audit committee met four times during the year ended 31 March
2010, individual attendance of each committee member at these
meetings is as follows:
Attend/
Eligible to attend
HERY,/
Committee members ZEERE HEERHEZRE
Independent Non-executive Directors BIXHTES
Mr. Chi (appointed on 1 January 2010) ThE (HW-2-Z2F-F-HEZE) 1/1
Dr. Wong (appointed on 20 November 2009) Bt (R-EENEL-A=THEZA) 11
Mr. Man (appointed on 20 November 2009) B4t (R-EENEFEL-HFZFHEZEL) 11
Mr. Loke Che Chan, Gilbert (appointed on 18 September EEERE (R=EENEAAT/\HEZHFR 1/1
2009 and resigned on 1 January 2010) RZ-E-ZFF-F—-HFT)
Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam) EENEL (RZEENFNAT/HAFRE) 212
(resigned on 18 September 2009)
Mr. Chu Kar Wing (resigned on 20 November 2009) KEXLE (R-EENFF—FZFHEHE) 33
Mr. Ku Ling Yu, John (resigned on 20 November 2009) BREELE (RZBENF—-A=FHEE) 3/3
The Group’s audited consolidated results for the year ended 31 AEEEE-_E-SE-A=+-HLEEIEE
March 2010 have been reviewed by the audit committee. BEAEBECREREEEEY -

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A remuneration committee has been established with written terms
of reference in accordance with the requirements of the CG Code.
The Remuneration Committee comprises three INEDs, namely, Mr.
Chu, being the chairperson of the remuneration committee Mr.
Chi, Dr. Wong and Mr. Man. The principal responsibilities of the
remuneration committee include making recommendations to the
Board on the Company’s policy, and structure for remuneration of
all Directors and senior management, and reviewing the specific
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved
by the Board from time to time.
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During the year under review, the remuneration committee held one NEBEEERN  FMEEeRfTT—e% B8
meeting and the attendance record is set out below: ZHEERFENT :
Attend/
Eligible to attend
HERY,/
Committee members ZEBHE REERERZRY
Executive Director HITES
Ms. Tong Pui Chi, Lucia (resigned on 30 November 2009) BRZNE (R=ZEENEL—A=1HEHE) 11
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau (appointed on 1 December 2009) BXREE (i": EENFFZH—AEZT) 0/0
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth (appointed on 1 January 2010) FEWEE (W-F-FF-FA—-HEZH) 0/0
Dr. Wong Yun Kuen (appointed on 20 November 2009) BEREEL (KRoEENET—A-1THEZE) 0/0
Mr. Man Kwok Leung (appointed on 20 November 2009) BERLE (HR=ZEENEL—FA=1HEZE) 0/0
Mr. Loke Che Chan, Gilbert (appointed on 18 September BEEEE (R-ZEZNENAT/HEZHER
2009 and resigned on 1 January 2010) R-F-ZFF—-F—HFF) 0/0
Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam) BEENEL (RoEEAFENFF/HEHT) 171
(resigned on 18 September 2009)
Mr. Chu Kar Wing (resigned on 20 November 2009) REREE (KZZEENFL—-A=THEHE) 1/1
Mr. Ku Ling Yu, John (resigned on 20 November 2009) BRREE (R=EEAF+-A=THEE) 1/1

REMUNERATION OF THE AUDITORS

For the year ended 31 March 2010, the Audit Committee had
reviewed the performance of Pan-China (H.K.) CPA Limited (“Pan-
China”) (formerly known as “NCN CPA Limited”) as the independent
auditors of the Company and proposed to re-appoint Pan-China as
the independent auditors at the forthcoming AGM. The auditors’
remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2010 is HK$380,000
(2009: HK$350,000 in respect of audit service and HK$2,640,000
non-audit service represented the due diligence works performed in
relation to the acquisition of funeral and related businesses).

RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARATION OF THE ACCOUNTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and
the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance and the
GEM Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The
responsibility of the auditors is set out in the “Independent Auditors’
Report” in this annual report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment,
maintenance and review of the Group’s system of internal control.
For the year ended 31 March 2010, the Board periodically reviewed
its internal control system to ensure its effectiveness and adequacy,
which embraced financial, operational and risk management
control. The Board also satisfied with the adequancy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their training programmes and
budget.

COMMUNICATION WITH EQUITY HOLDERS

The Directors will meet with the Company’s equity holders and
answer enquiries raised by them in the annual and special general
meetings.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in (i) the sale of healthcare products in Hong
Kong; and (ii) funeral and related businesses in the PRC. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2010 are set
out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page
28.

No interim dividend was declared for the year ended 31 March 2010
(2009: Nil).

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2010 (2009: Nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A five-year financial summary of the published results, assets,
liabilities and minority interests of the Group for the last five financial
years and reclassified as appropriated, is set out on page 100. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves and distributable reserves of
the Company and the Group during the year are set out in Note
30 to the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity, respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association and there was no restriction against such
rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in Note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Details of the Company’s share options scheme are set out in Note
29 to the consolidated financial statements.

ZRA=+- EﬁﬁEZ%%F%%Mﬁﬁ%°

FREK
ARAN-—BREERAT - AKEZERRER
(VEEBHERRER  RIVETERSEERME
X% HIZMBLARZEKIHHANGEUK
WA MIEE38

EERRE
AEBEE_T-TF=-A=T-HILFEZXA
HREBEGEEHEKERA

ﬁ:—?
BE (=

EEZACZt-HLEEYESKHH
ThE #&) -

EZEEBETREBE_2-ZF= H t—-RHLE
FELRPRE (ZEZNF 1 H)

LFEMBEE
AEEBEZIEMRFEZERMXE EE &
BRVBBRREZMBHRECEEERRTEN 2
B UHRFI00E - UBESTBREEREGS
MBRWER WM -

HERTHREE
BMAAARAEENKEER BHERTHIEE
BEBHESBRRGAHMBREME0RGAR
HEBE -

BEE
ARRAzARBERTBEHEELR IR MRS
HELLABEBERENZRE -

RAERBRE
ABRARRARAZHBANGEMBIHRMT28 -

REARTBREN S 2 FRRR M B RRME29 -

ANNUAL REPORT 2010 3R

s

19



hil®

Jox

i g i
r
P L - i e
b wh

ZMAY HOLDINGSLIMITED & R 2 E 2 B & B 2 7
RN, AT TSI XGRS A R S

DIRECTORS’ REPORT &= &

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chu Hon Pong (Chairman)
Mr. Lam Wing Tai (appointed on 19 October 2009)
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau (appointed on 19 October 2009
as a non-executive director and redesignated
as executive director on 30 November 2009)
Mr. Law Kwok Chung (resigned on 17 November 2009)
Dr. Neil Kai Gu (resigned on 30 November 2009)
Ms. Tong Pui Chi, Lucia (resigned on 30 November 2009)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth (appointed on 1 January 2010)

Dr. Wong Yun Kuen (appointed on 20 November 2009)

Mr. Man Kwok Leung (appointed on 20 November 2009)

Mr. Loke Che Chan, Gilbert (appointed on 18 September 2009
and resigned on 1 January 2010)

Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam) (resigned on 18 September 2009)

Mr. Chu Kar Wing (resigned on 20 November 2009)

Mr. Ku Ling Yu, John (resigned on 20 November 2009)

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Lam Wing Tai, Mr. Chui Kwong Kau, Mr. Chi Chi
Hung, Kenneth, Dr. Wong Yun Kuen and Mr. Man Kwok Leung will
retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company has a service contract with the
Company which was not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2010, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
minimum standards of dealings by directors as referred to in Rule
5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:

(1) Long Positions in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”)

Name of Director Type of Interest

ExEW & ER

Chu Hon Pong Personal

KER 18 A

Notes:

(i) These Shares are pledged to Premier Rise Investments Limited.
(ii) The approximate percentage of shareholding is calculated based

on the issued share capital of the Company of 1,731,786,138
Shares as at 31 March 2010.
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(2) Long Positions in the underlying shares
of the Company - Warrants

Name of Director Type of Interest

E=£l ERER
Chu Hon Pong Personal
KEH fBA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2010, none of the Directors
nor the chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
or which were required to be recorded in the register kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests
In Securities” above, at no time during the reporting period was the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities, including debentures,
of the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the
directors or their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any
right to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised
any such right.
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Number of Shares entitled
pursuant to the full exercise
of the Warrants held

as at 31 March 2010
RZE-EF=A=+-—H
BREZRARERERTHES
MEEZROEE

781,394
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS TERR
As at 31 March 2010, the interests and short positions of persons in R-ZE-ZE5=ZR=1+—-0 HEREBEESFRHEE
the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to RBIEXVB 2 E2REIFHBERADARENEFE
be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and ZARTROREERO 2EZRARS  NEES
3 of Part XV of the SFO or, who is, directly or indirectly, interested BEEEIRFEEEMEMKED TZHQ%K%
in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital —PERTHEREEN 2 EMERRAZEE
carrying rights to vote on all circumstances at general meetings of 5%HEULzERZAT  FREFSRAE KRS
any other members of the Group, or substantial shareholders as BB EARAERFZLECMACHZEE
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under REWT :
Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
(1) Long Positions in the Shares (1) RBRBzHR
Direct/ Approximate Percentage
Indirect Interest of Shareholding
Name of Shareholders BRERE B MEER EREAEIL
Chu Hon Pong (Note (i)) KEBRE HEEG) 155,150,967 8.96%
Chinese People Holdings Company TRERERATF 150,000,000 8.66%
Limited (“Chinese People”, Note (ii) (THREK]  WEtii)
Notes: Mz

(i)  These shares are pledged to Premier Rise Investments Limited.

(i) Super Win Development Limited holds 24.52% of shares in Chinese
People and is a wholly owned subsidiary of Asian Allied Limited
("Asian Allied”). Mr. Mo Shikang is the beneficiary owner of Asian
Allied.

() ZERDEFTFBREREBRAT .

(i) Super Win Development Limited$$& # RIEZR R 2
24.52% » JhAsian Allied Limited ([ Asian Allied]) 2
2ENBLR - EHELEBAsan Alled2ERHHEE
Ao
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(2) Long Positions in the underlying shares of the Company

BRAR

Name of Shareholder

Chu Hon Pong REH
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2010, the Directors of
the Company were not aware of any other person (other than
the directors or chief executive of the Company) who had an
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, who
is, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote on all
circumstances at general meetings of any other members of the
Group, or any other substantial shareholders whose interests or short
positions were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES
OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for
approximately 37.6% of the Group’s total purchases and the largest
supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 9.8% of the
Group's total purchases. Aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers were approximately 30% of the Group’s sales
while the largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately
28.6% of the Group'’s sales.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the directors own more than
5% of the issued capital of the Company) had any beneficial interest
in the Group’s major suppliers and customers for the financial year
ended 31 March 2010.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2010, none of the Directors, the management
shareholders of the Company and their respective associates (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in a business
which causes or may cause a significant competition with the
business of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float under the GEM Listing Rules based on the
information that is publicity available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors of the Company.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by Pan-China (H.K.) CPA
Limited (formerly known as NCN CPA Limited) who retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming
AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Chu Hon Pong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2010
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ﬁl*yﬁﬁlﬁfﬁ#ﬁd:

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ZMAY
Holdings Limited set out on pages 28 to 99, which comprise the
consolidated and company statements of financial position as at
31 March 2010, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of the report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT IEfI_LI‘?EIIEIII#Iid:

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and
true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company
as at 31 March 2010 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PAN-CHINA (H.K.) CPA LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

20/F., Hong Kong Trade Centre,
161-167 Des Voeux Road Central,
Hong Kong,

Hong Kong S.A.R., China

Hong Kong, 28 June 2010

Tsang Chiu Keung
Practising Certificate Number P04968
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ,‘mA%E |

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZ=Z—-ZF=A=1+—-BLEE

2010 2009
—E-ZF —EEAE
Note(s) HK$' 000 HK$' 000
Bt & FTHT FTHT
Turnover =E 0] 6(a) 74,505 55,720
Cost of sales 5 & A (35,585) (28,640)
Gross profit EF 38,920 27,080
Other revenue and net income G e ONE 6(b) 762 1,588
Administrative and operating THREERX
expenses (40,942) (37,955)
Finance costs BH%ER 7 (1,047) (717)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEKB D Ak 32 - 584
Gain arising from business REEKEH 2 W E
combination 31(b) - 33,551
Goodwill arising from business REEBEH ZEEME
combination written off 31(a) - (25,224)
Impairment of goodwill BERE 16 (20,473) =
Impairment of other receivables H e WK E 2 RE (25,360) (23)
Loss before tax BREi AT E 1B 8 (48,140) (1,116)
Income tax Fis% 9 (1,537) (2,265)
Loss for the year FEER (49,677) (3,381)
Other comprehensive income: Hith 2 :
Exchange difference arising on translation B EBNERELECERZ5E
of foreign operations 518 (2,448)
Total comprehensive income FEZHKRLHE
for the year (49,159) (5,829)
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CONSOLIDATEDSTATEMEN-T“OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ,.vT\/\%Ell& ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

2010 2009
—E-ZF —EEAE
Note(s) HK$' 000 HK$' 000
i & FTHx FTHET
(Loss)/profit attributable to: Pk (B518) /%A
— owners of the Company - ARABZEBA (39,769) (6,290)
- non-controlling interests - JEERER (9,908) 2,909
(49,677) (3,381)
Total comprehensive income B HE RS2
attributable to:
— owners of the Company - ARFZEBA (39,505) (7,533)
- non-controlling interests —-FERES (9,654) 1,704
(49,159) (5,829)
HK Cents HK Cents
Loss per share: BRER: 12
~ Basic —ER (3.15) (0.54)
- Diluted -85 N/A N/A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 248450

As at 31 March 2010 R=2—ZF=A=1+—H

2010 2009
—E-ZF§ —EENE
Note(s) HK$’000 HK$’ 000
B & FTHER FTART
Non-current assets ERBEE
Fixed assets BEEE 15 151,487 151,623
Goodwill RS 16 9,286 29,733
Other intangible assets Hth B EE 17 - 845
160,773 182,201
Current assets REBEE
Inventories 7& 19 47,733 52,089
Trade and other receivables FEUW BR A H Atb E W FR 1B 21 138,820 98,655
Cash and bank balances BeENBTES 23 72,657 24,237
259,210 174,981
Current liabilities REEE
Bank borrowing RITEE 24 3,412 =
Trade and other payables FEAS BRI H {th FE A4 FRIE 25 99,472 81,148
102,884 81,148
Net current assets HREBEEFHE 156,326 93,833
Total assets less current liabilities HEERABDER 317,099 276,034
Non-current liabilities *rBEE
Long-term payables RHEEARIE 26 9,769 11,106
9,769 11,106
Net assets BEEFH 307,330 264,928
Capital and reserves AR 3
Share capital (&N 28 69,272 48,152
Reserves fEE 30 160,451 133,058
Equity attributable to the owners RABEB AEGES
of the Company 229,723 181,210
Non-controlling interests FERER 77,607 83,718
Total equity EmAH 307,330 264,928

Chu Hon Pong

REHR

Executive Director
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION Eﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁfﬁ%

As at 31 March 2010 R=2—ZF=A=1+—H

2010 2009
—E-ZF —EEAE
Note(s) HK$' 000 HK$' 000
i & FTHx FTHET

Non-Current Assets ERBEE
Fixed assets EEEE 15 10 =
Investment in subsidiaries RHBLARZEE 18 - =
10 -

Current Assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR I B A B FRIE 20 143,677 170,549
Trade and other receivables JE L B 3R R L i FE WL SR 3B 21 30,153 146
Cash and bank balances BEeRBTER 23 57,462 3,527
231,292 174,222
Current Liabilities REEE

Trade and other payables FE A BR AR HL th FE A4 I 25 572 61
572 61
Net Current Assets REBEEFH 230,720 174,161
Net Assets EERHE 230,730 174,161

Capital and Reserves MK 5
Share capital (&N 28 69,272 48,152
Reserves f&E 30 161,458 126,009
Total Equity ERAE 230,730 174,161

Chu Hon Pong

Executive Director

Chui Kwong Kau
BEXIR
Executive Director

HITEFE
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ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED ‘:F' E ZEBEERA FE

For the year ended 31 March 2010 BZ=

a

NI AT =S
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 5%

Attributable to the owners of the Company

32 454

e

AR ERARL
Share Non-
Share Share  Special  options Translation Accumulated controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve losses Total interests Total
FER
A RGEE HRIRGE BRERE RERE 2HES #5 E& ag
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000
TEr T#Ex féx TEr TEn TEx TEr  TEx  TEn
At 1 April 2008 W-2EN\EMA-A 9125 82226  (3999) 9,922 - 3an 1948 - 71,948
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(58) /87 - - - - - (620 (6290 2909 (3,381
Exchange differences arising~~ BEEAEREE 2
on translation of foreign ERZE
operations - - - - (1.283) - (1243 (1205  (2.448)
Total comprehensive income ~~ AEERENEER
for the year - - - - (1,243) (6,290) (7,533) 1,704 (5,829)
Issue of ordinary shares under ~ BERARERTEER
share subscriptions 6,000 110,483 - - - - 116483 - 116,483
Issue of ordinary shares upon R FATZRERE
exercise of bonus warrants ~ BfiEER b 285 - - - - 312 - 312
Transfers upon share options ~ REREHH#/ALEER
cancelled/terminated - - - (1,435) - 1,435 - - -
Non-controlling interests arising  EX4HES 2 FERER
on business combination - - - - - - - 82,014 82,014
At 31 March 2009 and R-BENEZA=1-H
at 1 April 2009 RZ2ENFRA-R 48152 192,99 (39998) 8487  (1243)  (27.182) 181210 83718 264,928
Loss for the year EEER - - - - - (39769 (39,769) (9.908)  (49,677)
Exchange differences arising ~ BEENERELL
on translation of EiZE
foreign operations - - - - 264 - 264 254 518
Total comprehensive income ~ AFE2ENELE
for the year - - - - 264 (39,769)  (39,505) (9,654)  (49,159)
Issue of ordinary shares under ~ BERAZERTEER
share subscriptions 21,120 66,898 - - - - 88,018 - 88,018
Transfers upon share options ~ RERER#/41/
cancelled/terminated/lapsed % MEER - - = (8.487) = 8,487 - = =
Capital contribution from -0 8hRLE
a minority shareholder - - - - - - - 3,543 3,543
At 31 March 2010 HW-8-3E=5=1-8 69,272 259,892  (39,998) - (9790  (58,464) 229,723 77,607 307,330
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS £AE4 %8 %

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

arﬂxﬁﬁa
)

/’ i

7 ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED

2010 2009
—E-FF —EThEF
Note(s) HK$' 000 HK$' 000
Mt & TER FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REKLEEBR v REHKE
Loss before tax BRBiAIE B (48,140) (1,116)
Adjustments for: ERTIIEBEELAR:
Interest expenses AMERX 1,047 717
Interest income ME WA (12) (328)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEKHB QR EL 2 W 32 - (584)
Gain arising on business combination (¥BEAHEECRF 31(b) - (33,551)
Goodwill arising from business EREHEE BN
combination written off 31(a) - 25,224
Impairment of goodwill BB E 16 20,473 =
Impairment of other receivables H fth & U 5K 18 2 Rl B 25,360 23
Amortisation of other intangible assets BHEAthERTEE - 17
Amortisation of leasehold land HEHE T 52 52
Depreciation of property, plant ME- BERZEZINE
and equipment 7,211 5,004
Gain on disposal of other intangible HERMEREE 2 WG
assets (17) -
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEWE  RERZE
and equipment ZEE 218 =
Operating profit/(loss) before changes BELESEPA KR
in working capital wAl, (&E) 6,192 (4,542)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BERD /(18 m) 4,356 (4,542)
Increase in trade and other receivables JE Ukt BR TR K EL i JE Ui 70 08 32 0 (65,526) (26,531)
Increase in trade and other payables FE A5 BR 7R K% HL b FE {5 7008 2 14,647 7,437
Net cash used in operations EEMERSEHA (40,331) (28,178)
PRC enterprise tax paid EFEEER (82) =
Net cash used in operating activities e EFTIEE FEE (40,413) (28,178)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REREZBZRERE
Interest received 2FE 12 328
Purchase of property, plant and equipment B EY % - BE KR H (7,051) (10,874)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HENE BERSZE
plant and equipment P8 RIE 136 =
Proceeds from disposal of other HEHEMBF EEMS
intangible assets FIE 862 -
Disposal of subsidiaries &%IIIIE’D\E 32 - (9)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEEH B A & 31 - (102,208)
Net cash used in investing activities REZEMERSFHE (6,041) (112,763)
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ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED I:I:I E ;z B Z R ﬁ IIEI n a

For the year ended 31 March 2010 BZ=

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS &R &

Z-FF=A=t-ALFE

NG A SRS

5%%

2010 2009
—E-FF —EENE
Note(s) HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
B & FTHER FTART
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES RE®MEZB - HEHRE
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary shares — E{TZ @R 578 R 88,018 116,795
Proceeds from bank borrowing RITEEMBRIE 3,412 =
Capital contribution from a —EZLHRREE
minority shareholder 3,543 -
Interest paid ERAE (161) (50)
Net cash generated from financing activities BE EEFFSH & FHE 94,812 116,745
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASHAND HREHBREZEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS #in,/ GRd) B 48,358 (24,196)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FHOzHRERREESEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 24,237 48,333
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes ~ SMNEEREH 2 & 62 100
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FRZHESRREEEY
END OF THE YEAR 72,657 24,237
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH REeERRESEYIM
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances BERIIBTER 72,657 24,237

ANNUAL REPORT 2010 3R



Lo S ST S A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS GalBRRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

RN AT T

CORPORATE INFORMATION

ZMAY Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market (“GEM") of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office
is situated at Cricket Square Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands, British West Indies.
The principal place of business in Hong Kong is situated at Unit
1206A, 12/F, West Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught
Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, the functional currency of the company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in (i) the sale of healthcare products in Hong
Kong; and (i) funeral and related businesses in the PRC.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and revised Standards, Amendments and Interpretations (“new
and revised HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA").

| EP E ] Iﬁ B ﬁ BE n T ZI\/IAY HOLDINGS LIMITED

TEER

TRZEZERERAE ([AAF]) RIEFHSE
BREE (BB RBERETMA LA
SREERAR ERONRBEBHERZME
PRATE (TBERAT]) BIZEAR (TRIZEAR D) £ o K
N BFMPSE MR Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands, British West Indies © 7
’RﬁEE%IE“%t&i&I‘ZEAE%LFJF*HE
H168-2003% (5 /O 1218 1206AF

FEPBBRRUAL QXA DEERB IR

ARAR—HREZRQF - ARAREKE
AE (BB AEE]) cEBZRBRERBH
EREER RIVEPEMUSEERAEEY -

BRAFIREETERHBHRE
AR EEA])

RAEE XEECEATBREFAAE(E
BEEAE]) B2 THEETER 7
k2R ((HIREEIEBMBREER]) -

ZA (&

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007)
EBEHERNE IS (=
HKAS 23 (Revised 2007)
BERAGTENER (ZESLELES
HKAS 32 & HKAS1 (Amendments)

ZLFLEBE)

RS ERNENRREBE N ENE1F (BFTX)
HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27 (Amendments)

ERUBMEERNEIRRBBE T ERE275 (BT X)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

BB KREERE25 (BRTA)

HKFRS 7 (Amendment)

BEBMBEREERETR (BITR)

HKFRS 8

BB KREEDET

HK(IFRIC) - Int 9 & HKAS 39 (Amendments)

8 (ERNBERSENRBEES) REEN
REBEERE39%

Presentation of Financial Statements

2P HRE

Borrowing Costs

EEMAR

Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on
Liquidation

BREACIEENBIARER

Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity
or Associate

R—ENBRE  AEZEHERIBMERTREZHRX

Vesting Conditions and Cancellations

5B IR R At 8

Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments

NEFBUBIAZER

Operating Segments

EED

Embedded Derivatives

BALTETR
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ZIVIAY HOLDINGS LIMITED s E % E i

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZ=Z—-ZF=A=1+—-BLEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(continued)

HK(IFRIC) = Int 13

B8 (ARMERESENREBZES) -REE 135
HK(IFRIC) - Int 15
&8 (BRI KRS
HK(IFRIC) - Int 16
EE (BREBHREENRBZEE) -REE 165
HK(IFRIC) = Int 18

&8 (ARMERSENREBZES) -REE 185
HKFRS (Amendments)

EARBESS)-RBE 1SN

BERMBREER (BITA)

HKFRS (Amendments)

BERMBREEL (BITX)

J&*ﬁ‘l@/&ﬁ "

N R PN A4S

'NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %T ,7T i%#&% ﬁ

2. BRAFAIREEIEEMBREEN(F
BB REER]) (&)

Customer Loyalty Programmes

B AHTE

Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

FHERES

Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

BIRBREFE2E

Transfers of Assets from Customers

HEFEBEE

Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2008, except for the
amendment to HKFRS 5 that is effective for annual periods
beginning or after 1 July 2009

2008F M 2 BB B EER 28R (BRR200957A1R
RULRHREFERBERNE P BRELERESR 2
BRI AN

Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009 in relation to the
amendment to paragraph 80 of HKAS 39

20005 M BB BREEN 2R (FEEESTEL
E395RE0R Z BRI &)

Except as described below, the adoption of the new and revised
HKFRSs has no material effect on the financial statements of the
Group and the Company for the current and prior accounting
periods.

(a) HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) Presentation of Financial
Statements
HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) has introduced terminology changes
(including revised titles for the financial statements)
and changes in the format and content of the financial
statements.

(b) HKFRS 8 Operating Segments

HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard that requires operating
segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports
about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed
by the chief operating decision maker for the purpose
of allocating resources to segments and assessing their
performance. The application of the HKFRS 8 has not
resulted in a redesignation of the Group's reportable
segments (see Note (13)). In addition, there are no changes
in the basis of measurement of segment revenue, segment
profit or loss, segment assets and segment liabilities.

ANNUAL REPORT 2010 3R
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Lo S ST S A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS GalBRRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 2. ERFIRREITEEMKRELEAN(E

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(continued)

BB REER]) (&)

(c) Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments (c) IEHBIENBE (ERMBREER

(Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:

Disclosures)

The amendments to HKFRS 7 expand the disclosures
required in relation to fair value measurements in respect
of financial instruments which are measured at fair value.
The amendments also expand and amend the disclosures

FIFIHMBIR : WEIZEFT)

BEBMBRELENEIRZBIREAEE
UATEAEZHBIERDNTFENERZ
WEAE - WEBTTRARBITBEAR
BECEARCKERTE - ARBEALERE

required in relation to liquidity risk. The Group has not ZEEBITHCBERNABERIRERE
presented comparative information for the expanded 2 BER -

disclosures in relation to fair value measurements in
accordance with the transitional provision set out in the

amendments.

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
Standards, Amendments and Interpretations that have been

issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments)

BEEMBHREEN (BITX)

HKFRSs (Amendments)
BBBREEL (BFTA)
HKFRSs (Amendments)
BBEREEL (BFTA)
HKAS 24 (Revised)

BB E TR E245 (BI57])
HKAS 27 (Revised)
BB ERIE275 (KB
HKAS 32 (Amendments)

BB ETERE325 (BRI )
HKAS 39 (Amendments)

BB ST ERE395 (BT )
HKFRS 1 (Amendments)
BEBMBREERE IR (BITAR)
HKFRS 1 (Amendments)

EBNBHREENE IR (BIIK)
HKFRS 2 (Amendments)
BEBMBREERER (BITR)
HKFRS 3 (Revised)

BB RS ER 35 (KIE85])

AEEYERFERATHCEMEERERZ
BRI ER - BRI R 2RE -

Amendments to HKFRS 5 as part of Improvements to HKFRSs
issued in 2008

ERPBREENEF 2B FARE-ZSENERRBUBES
R 2 —HBHo

Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009?

“EENERBYBREREL 2 BEY

Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2010®

“E-ZERBUBREREL 2BEY

Related Party Disclosures®

EREATRESEY

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements™

RERBILMKER"

Classification of Rights Issues®

298

Eligible Hedged Items®

REREMIERO

Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters®

BREME 2EIRRC

Limited Exemption from Comparative HKFRS 7
Disclosures for First-time Adopters®

BRRMNERERNBEREENETREENLBREREERB RO

Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions®

SEUREEEUROINZREY

Business Combinations'”

EBAH0
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 BZ=

2.

~ /’

Z-FF=A=t-ALFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(continued)

HKFRS 9
BEBMBHREERFESR
HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 (Amendments)

SN PN NG A

Financial Instruments?”

B\ZH%IEG)

Prepayments of Minimum Funding Requirement®

BREEFREZRARERC

Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners"
BEBADRFERESEED
Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity®

‘*! o

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %5 ,7J

-

ey

2. BRAFAIREEIEEMBREEN(F
BB REER]) (&)

R (ERMERERREEE) -RBE 4R
SCHEN)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17

B (EARMERERBEES) -RBE1TH

HK(IFRIC)-Int 19

B (ERMERERBZREE) -RBE 9%

NRATEEHIH

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

Amendments that are effective for annual periods beginning on or

after 1 July 2009 or 1 January 2010, as appropriate

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 and

1 January 2011, as appropriate

The application of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the accounting
for business combination for which the acquisition dates are
on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period
beginning on or after 1 July 2009. HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect
the accounting treatment for changes in a parent’s ownership
interest in a subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIA

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments introduces new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial assets and
will be effective from 1 January 2013, with earlier application
permitted. The Standard requires all recognized financial assets
that are within the scope of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement to be measured at either
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments
that (i) are held within a business model whose objective is to
collect the contractual cash flows and (ii) have contractual cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost.
All other debt investments and equity investments are measured
at fair value. The application of HKFRS 9 might affect the
classification and measurement of the Group's financial assets.

In addition, as part of Improvements to HKFRSs issued in
2009, HKAS 17 Leases has been amended in relation to
the classification of leasehold land. The amendments will
be effective from 1 January 2010, with earlier application
permitted. Before the amendments to HKAS 17, leasees
were required to classify leasehold land as operating leases
and presented as prepaid lease payments in the statement
of financial position. The amendments have removed such a
requirement. Instead, the amendments require the classification
of leasehold land to be based on the general principles set out
in HKAS 17, that are based on the extent to which risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of a leased asset lie with the
lessor or the lessee. The application of the amendments to HKAS
17 might not affect the classification and measurement of the
leasehold land.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the other new and revised Standards, Amendments or
Interpretations will have no material impact on financial
statements.

ﬁ\ R A ﬂ ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED

o

L STATEMENTS £ASBBEME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

BRAFIREETEEMBRELEAN(F
BB REER]) (&)

EBUBREENFORIUBEITAISIAHE
MEECIBRITEZHRAE ARR=-F
—ZHE-RA-RRER ALATRFEA - ZE
ARERENEEBE ERERHMET
A BIANGEIERCRIASHEEREKRE
HRAHATVEE - BRE  (REXEBE
AUBRENRERERHENHRER (VES
XA ERRAREELAEEZANEMELSHN
RERBCERRE-—REZBHERATE T
BHMEBRERRAREDEAVETE
RRAEBMBEREENFIRTEHARES
BMEEZ D BENREERTE -

o FR-EENFEMZ(REBTRYE
HEA) 2 -850 HEBSTEE 7R
[(EE BT HBAE 2D BEREL TR
ZEIR-E-SF-A-AREN AR
RREA - BBETEANEI7REITA - ABA
AR HEEREAKEHE  EUBHRRK
RFBANEER - BIICEMBRBRER -
Bi& T2 HERRRE BT ERE 7
Fz-RRAKBE DREEBEEERA
Rz mBNRHER HEAREBAZE
EEE - BRAHEBE RS 17TR2BHL
EYEINtwBAEZ S BNTE -

ARNDESHRY ERHGHIREETE
Bl BAIHRBE T EHMBRRENETE

E/
FEo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS f \/m\ p L

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZ=Z—-ZF=A=1+—-BLEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued by
HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost basis
except for certain financial instruments, which are measured at
fair values.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where
the Company has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the profit or loss from the effective
date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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% H IS" B ﬁ FE n T ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS GalBRRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s
equity therein. Non-controlling interests in the net assets
consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the
original business combinations and the non-controlling
interests’ share of changes in equity since the date of
the combination. Losses applicable to the non-controlling
interests in excess of the non-controlling interests in the
subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of
the Group except to the extent that the non-controlling
interests have a binding obligation and are able to make an
additional investment to cover the losses.

Business combinations

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the
purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured
at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange,
of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the
business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities are recognised at their
fair values at the acquisition date, except for non-current
assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale, which are recognised and measured at fair value less
costs to sell.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset
and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost
of the business combination over the Group’s interest in
the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment,
the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The non-controlling interest in the acquiree is initially
measured at the non-controlling interest’s proportion of
the net fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 BZ=
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(9]

(d)

Subsidiary

A subsidiary is an entity in which the Group has the power,
directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating
policies, so as to obtain benefits from their activities. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible are considered when
assessing whether the Group controls another enterprise.

Investment in subsidiaries is included in the Company’s
statement of financial position at cost less any impairment
losses, unless it is classified as held for sale. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis
of dividends received and receivable.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary represents
the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s
interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities of the relevant subsidiary at the
date of acquisition. Goodwill arising on an acquisition of
an associate or a jointly controlled entity represents the
excess of the cost of the acquisition over the Group’s share
of the relevant associate’s or jointly controlled entity’s
net assets at the date of acquisition. Capitalised goodwill
is presented separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position and is carried at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

(e)

Goodwill (continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
acquisition. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment annually,
and whenever there is an indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
financial year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end
of that financial year. When the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the
unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then
to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in the consolidated
income statement. An impairment loss for goodwill is not
reversed in subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, an associate or a
jointly controlled entity, the attributable amount of goodwiill
capitalised is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal.

Revenue recognition

Revenue, which is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivables, is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the revenue can be measured reliably, on the
following bases:

(i) Sale income is recognised when goods are delivered
and title has passed;

(i) Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net
carrying amount; and
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZ=Z—-ZF=A=1+—-BLEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

()

(9)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(i) Dividend income from investments is recognised
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets
of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the
lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is
included in the statement of financial position as a finance
lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between
finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so
as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly
to profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to
qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing
costs.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to
enter into an operating lease are recognised as a reduction
of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line
basis. Interest in leasehold land is amortised over the lease
term on a straight-line basis.

Foreign currencies

The individual financial statements of each group entity
are presented in the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (its functional
currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial
statements, the results and financial position of each entity
are expressed in Hong Kong dollars, which is the functional
currency of the Company, and the presentation currency for
the consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Foreign currencies (continued)

In preparing the financial statements of the individual
entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded
at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items,
are included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for
the period except for differences arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses
are recognised directly in equity. For such non-monetary
items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also
recognised directly in equity.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations (including comparatives) are expressed in Hong
Kong dollars using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
the reporting period. Income and expense items (including
comparatives) are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are classified as equity and transferred to
the Group's translation reserve. Such translation differences
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the
foreign operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the rate prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are included
in the translation reserve.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 BZ=
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Borrowing costs

(i)

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale for which the
commencement date for capitalisation is on or after 1 April
2009, are added to the cost of those assets until such time
as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when,
the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is
without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

Share options granted to employees are accounted for in
accordance with the policies set out in Note 4(s)(i)(1).
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(j) Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill
or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZ=Z—-ZF=A=1+—-BLEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1)

(k)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
each reporting period. Deferred tax is charged or credited
to profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment, after taking into account of
their estimated residual value, if any, over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

Over the shorter of the
remaining period of
lease term or 30 years

5% - 10% per annum

15% - 33'/3% per
annum

5% — 20% per annum

Buildings

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and
equipment

Motor vehicles

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their
expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or,
where shorter, the term of relevant lease.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item) is included in the income
statement in the year in which the item is derecognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

RN AT T

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

U}

Construction in progress, which represents assets under
construction, is stated at cost less impairment loss, if
any. When the assets are completed and ready for use,
the carrying amount of the assets will be reclassified
to property, plant and equipment and depreciated in
accordance with the policy as set out above.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure
on development activities is capitalised if the product
or process is technically and commercially feasible and
the Group has sufficient resources and the intent ion to
complete development. The expenditure capitalised includes
the costs of materials, direct labour, and an appropriate
proportion of overheads and borrowing costs, where
applicable. Capitalised development costs are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Other development expenditure is
recognised as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group with
finite useful lives are stated in the balance sheet at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and
brands is recognised as an expense in the period in which it
is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. Period and method of
amortisation are reviewed annually.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

(m

~

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives
are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful
life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually
to determine whether events and circumstances continue to
support the indefinite useful life assessment for that asset.
If they do not, the change in the useful life assessment
from indefinite to finite is accounted for prospectively from
the date of change and in accordance with the policy for
amortisation of intangible assets with finite lives as set out
above.

Gain or losses arising from derecognition of intangible
assets are measured at the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
are recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset
is derecognised.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
excluding goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount under other standard,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as revaluation
decrease under other standard.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

(n)

excluding goodwill (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under other
standard, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss
is treated as a revaluation increase under other standard.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim financial report
prepared in compliance with “HKAS 34 Interim Financial
Reporting” are not reversed at the end of the financial
year to which the interim period relates even if no loss,
or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had the
impairment been assessed only at the end of that financial
year.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial
liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(n) Financial instruments (continued)

4. FEEHRR(A)
(n) MBIE (&)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset/liability and of
allocating interest income/expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts/payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset/
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income/expense is recognised on an effective
interest basis.

Financial assets
The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans and
receivables.

Loans and receivables (including trade and other
receivables, deposits and prepayments, amounts due from
subsidiaries and cash and bank balances) are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. Subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses.

Impairment of loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of the reporting period. Loans and
receivables are impaired where there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after
the initial recognition, the estimated future cash flows of
the financial assets have been impacted.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n) Financial instruments (continued)

RN AT T

Z B I* B ﬁ BE n T ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED

4. TEETBERE)
(n) MBIAMA)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of loans and receivables (continued)
Objective evidence of impairment could include:

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

- default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments; or

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and
is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount is reduced by the impairment loss
directly for all loans and receivables with the exception
of trade receivables and amounts due from subsidiaries,
where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of
an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.
When a trade receivable and amounts due from subsidiaries
are considered uncollectible, they are written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying
amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(n) Financial instruments (continued)

4. FEEHRR(A)
(n) MBIE (&)

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including trade and other payables
and bank borrowing) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o)

(p)

Financial guarantees, provisions and contingent
liabilities

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the
original or modified terms of a debt instrument. The Group
has asserted to regard financial guarantee contracts as
insurance contracts and elect to apply “HKFRS 4 Insurance
Contracts” to account for such contracts. The election
applies to all existing contracts and new contracts on
a contract-by-contract basis and is irrevocable for each
contract elected.

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Present obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability
where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation or the
amount of the obligation cannot be measured with
sufficient reliably. Possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
event(s) is also disclosed as a contingent liability unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises purchase price and direct expenses
that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the
first-in-first-out method. Net realizable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less all estimated expenses to be incurred in marketing,
selling and distribution.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Cash and cash equivalents

()

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hands and demand deposits, and short term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(i) The party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (1) controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, the Group; (2) has an interest
in the Group that gives it significant influence over the
Group; or (3) has joint control over the Group;

(i) The party is an associate;
(iii) The party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(iv) The party is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or its parent;

(v) The party is a close member of the family of any
individual referred to in (i) or (iv);

(vi) The party is an entity that is controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by or for which
significant voting power in such entity resides, with
directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (iv) or
(v); or

=

(vii) The party is a post-employment benefit plan which is
for the benefit of employees of the Group or of any

entity that is a related party of the Group.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r)

(s)

Related parties (continued)

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the
entity.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction
when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between
related parties.

Share-based payment transactions
(i) Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

(1) Share options granted to employees
For share options granted to employees, the fair
value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the
grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share options reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to ultimately vest. The effect of the
change in estimate, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss with a corresponding adjustment to share
options reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in share options
reserve will be transferred to share premium.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 Z=Z—-ZF=F=1+—-BLEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(s) Share-based payment transactions (continued)
(i) Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(continued)
(1) Share options granted to employees (continued)
When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be transferred to retained
profits.

(2) Share options granted to suppliers

For share options granted to suppliers in exchange
for goods or services, they measured at the fair
value of the goods or serves received. The fair
value of the goods or services received. The fair
values of the goods or services are recognised as
expenses immediately, unless the goods or services
qualify for recognition as assets. Corresponding
adjustments have been made to equity (share
options reserve).

(i) Cash-settled share-based payment transactions

For cash-settled share-based payments, the Group
measures the goods or services acquired and the
liability incurred at the fair value of the liability. At the
end of each reporting period, the liability is remeasured
at its fair value until the liability is settled, with any
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES

(a) Judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations as discussed below, which
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 5.
ESTIMATES (continued)
(a) Judgements (continued)
(i) Impairment of assets

BEEHh kAR F)

(a) (&)
(i) BEHME

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the
event previously causing the impairment no longer
exists, the Group has to exercise judgement in the
area of asset impairment, particularly in assessing: (1)
whether an event has occurred that may affect the
asset value or such event affecting the asset value has
not been in existence; (2) whether the carrying value
of an asset can be supported by net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset or derecognition; and
(3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
preparing cash flow projections including whether
these cash flow projections are discounted using
an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions
selected by management to determine the level of
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impairment, including the discount rates or the growth REFEELEEAZE o
rate assumptions in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the net present value used in the
impairment test.
(i) Income taxes (i) Frig#

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)
(a) Judgements (continued)
(i) Income taxes (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses carried forward to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profits will be available against
which the unused tax losses can be utilised, based on
all available evidence. Recognition primarily involves
judgement regarding the future performance of
the particular legal entity or tax group in which the
deferred tax asset has been recognised. A variety of
other factors are also evaluated in considering whether
there is convincing evidence that it is probable that
some portion or all or the deferred tax assets will
ultimately be realised, such as the existence of taxable
temporary differences, tax planning strategies and the
periods in which estimated tax losses can be utilised.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets and related
financial models and budgets are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and to the extent that there is
insufficient convincing evidence that sufficient taxable
profits will be available within the utilisation periods
to allow utilisation of the carry forward tax losses,
the asset balance will be reduced and charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

(b) Estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the Group's
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(i) Impairment test of assets

The Group determines whether an asset is impaired
at least on an annual basis or where an indication
of impairment exists. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the asset. Estimating the value in
use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the assets and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)
(b) Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(i)

(iif)

Income taxes

The Group reviews the carrying amount of deferred tax
assets at the end of each reporting period and reduces
the amount to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilised. This
requires an estimation of the future taxable profits.
Estimating the future taxable profits requires the Group
to make an estimate of the expected future earnings
from the Group and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of the
earnings.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives,
after taking into account of their estimated residual
value. The determination of the useful lives and
residual values involve management’s estimation. The
Group assesses annually the residual value and the
useful life of the property, plant and equipment and if
the expectation differs from the original estimate, such
a difference may impact the depreciation in the year
the estimate is changed and the future period.

6. TURONVER, OTHER REVENUE AND NET INCOME
(@) An analysis of the Group's turnover for the year is as
follows:

xo
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

5. BRE bt RAK (&)

(b) fhstTEABAE % (&)

(ir)

(ifi)

VR
AKERSEREHRBAELER R
ﬁ?z%@ﬁ'lh RBROETE
BT RS REABRBIEF LT
FESMOEERBEET T UE
RZRE - BEERGETRRERD S
o st RRERBENEREEE
HASBERARRBAMELMGE 2L
EEEEMARUGERANZRE-

NE BERREZITE

ME  BERRENETRKE 2G5
RFEERABRERNE 2G5
ERFHTURE - IERFHRA
HEECBEESREEBHE A5
EEFFMENE  BERREZRER
BERUEAFH  REAHTRR
FREME  ARREEqRSE M
HEZHCFERRRABZAE -

6. EEH HttUWERBAFE
(@) AEEFAZERBIMMT

2010 2009

—2-%% “EINF

HK$' 000 HK$'000

TR FHx

Sale of healthcare products HERBRER 21,300 19,566
Funeral and related businesses BN AEBEER 53,205 36,154
74,505 55,720
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 Z=Z—-ZF=A=1+—-BLEE

6. TURONVER, OTHER REVENUE AND NET INCOME 6. EXH HWSESRWAFHE(H)

(continued)
(b) An analysis of the Group’s other revenue and net income b) *EBFRAZEMKRRERBAFES W
for the year is as follows: T
2010 2009
—E-FF —ZEENF
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
TER TER
Interest income AMEWA 12 328
Net foreign exchange gain SN Wt 5% B8 - 1,109
Gain on disposal of other HEHMBRERE
intangible assets Pl 6 17 -
Sundry income IR A 733 151
762 1,588
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BKER
2010 2009
—E-FF —EENF
HK$'000 HK$' 000
FTER TER
Interest expense on bank borrowing R —FRBEEERT
wholly repayable within one year BEFERX 161 50
Imputed interest expense on capitalised ER BN ESRZ
land lease payments EERERX 886 667
1,047 717
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LOSS BEFORE TAX

Loss before tax of the Group has been arrived at after charging:

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

8. KRBAESE
AEERUEABESNRTIEE

2010 2009
—E-EF —EENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TExT
Staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments) BIMAN (BEEZME)
— salaries and allowances o 13,284 13,657
— contributions to defined contributions — [0 R E M FR AR FI 5 &I X
retirement benefits schemes 746 659
14,030 14,316
Auditors’ remuneration 3 Gl
- audit services — BT IR 380 350
- other services —H R - 2,640
Amortisation of leasehold land BEEE T 52 52
Amortisation of other intangible assets BHEHMENEE - 17
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BERZBZITE
equipment 7,211 5,004
Operating lease rentals in respect FRHEYEKREHERS
of rented premises 499 1,531
Legal and professional fees FTREREEER 2,818 5,509
Loss on disposal of property, HENE BRERBEZERE
plant and equipment 218 -
Carrying amount of inventories sold EEFEZKRER 35,585 28,640
Carrying amount of inventories written off ~ M#EEE 2 REE 2,911 588

INCOME TAX

Income tax expense in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income represents:

9. FiISH
GEZERERAZFFERBLIE

2010 2009
—E-2F —EThEF
HK$'000 HK$' 000
FTHET FTHET

Current tax: NERRIIE ¢
Hong Kong B - -
PRC enterprise income tax RE S ERER 1,537 2,265
Deferred tax EERE - -
1,537 2,265
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 Z=Z—-ZF=F=1+—-BLEFE

9.

INCOME TAX (continued)
Hong Kong profits tax has not been provided as the Group

has no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year
(2009: Nil).

PRC enterprise income tax has been provided for at the rate of
25% (2009: 25%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in
the PRC.

No deferred tax has been recognised for the year as there are
no material temporary differences which will result in a liability
to be payable in the foreseeable future and the stream of
taxable profits which will be available to utilise the tax losses is
unpredictable.

The tax for the year can be reconciled to the accounting loss as

Frig®t (&)
mﬁéﬂﬂﬁlsziirjtﬂEE%EEFEﬁﬁ;ﬁ

B RUBRHBBENEGHER (CETNE:
/®) o

AN

EPIu—.%Fﬁ SHERTPEELRRBEHER
225% (ZBBRF 1 25%) HEHERE -

HRUEBEATRZESIBETRERELM
8 BELEANTAFERERESBZESR
REANRE BHEAYEBIELRIE -

HEBRERZFERRNT :

follows:

2010 2009
—E-25% —EThF
HK$’ 000 HK$’000
TR FET
Loss before tax BREATE B (48,140) (1,116)
Notional tax on loss before tax, calculated REBABE2EES
at the tax rates applicable to profits ZIERE R EERRA
in the jurisdictions concerned BARETE 11,582 (961)
Tax effect of income not taxable BERHBAZBREZE - 2,466
Tax effect of expenses not deductible and FAHBREAIRATNFERZ
loss not allowable W (252) 16
Tax effect of estimated tax losses not REERBAGTHEREZ
recognised for the year RESE (12,777) (3,779
Tax effect of temporary differences not AEREREZR2BEFE
recognised (8) (8)
Tax under-provided in previous year LtEEHBERERE (82) =
Income tax charge FEHEAX (1,537) (2,265)
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LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated loss attributable to the owners of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2010 includes a
loss of approximately HK$1,954,000 (2009: approximately
HK$7,690,000) which has been dealt with in the financial
statement of the Company.

Reconciliation of the above amount to the Company’s loss for
the year is as follows:

% Iﬁ" B ﬁ BE A 7 ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED

=7 D

'NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4854

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

10. RAREBARLER
HE-_Z-ZE=-A=+-HLEEEZAAT
BRENELZGEAEFERBECRAQARATH
RERANEEZEBELN1,954,0008 T (ZEEH
F 1 #97,690,00058 75) °

LHESERARAAFEFRZHEMT

2010 2009
—E-FF —EENF
HK$'000 HK$' 000
FTER TEx
Amount of consolidated loss attributable RAQARMBERREE 2%
to owners of the Company dealt with BEAEEGREERSE
in the Company’s financial statements (1,954) (7,690)
Secretarial service fees charged by subsidiary HKBATWRzHERKE - (50)
Management fees charged by subsidiary HtEARKR . EEE - (780)
Impairment losses recognised on amounts PEWRKME D RRIERRZ
due from subsidiaries HEEE (29,495) (6,646)
Company's loss for the year KTABIZEEEE (31,449) (15,166)
DIVIDEND 1. K&
No dividend has been paid during the year nor proposed for the AEETERESEZRERE (ZSTEAEF:
year (2009: Nil). i) o
LOSS PER SHARE 12. BREBE

The basic loss per share is calculated based on the loss
attributable to the owners of the Company of approximately
HK$39,769,000 (2009: HK$6,290,000) and the weighted
average number of 1,261,654,631 (2009: 1,159,740,349)
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 March
2010 and 31 March 2009 has not been presented as the
potential shares arising from the exercise and conversion of the
Company’s share options and warrants would decrease the loss
per share of the Group for these years and is regarded as anti-
dilutive.

%HQEZI&E?EMEI@@WZN‘?%%A
FE 16 B5 48 £939,769,0008 T (ZEF h F -
6,290,0003% 7T) &E%&fmﬁﬂxzbn%%’a%
1,261,654,6318 (ZZZENF : 1,159,740,349
BR)ZERE -

ARTERBRADACBRERDRER
EECBERNDERIAKEHEZ 2%
F=ZRA=1T-BLFERBE-TENEF=
BA=t-RLFEZBRER LHRAARE
F RAEZFZSEECBRBESE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 Z=Z—-ZF=F=1+—-BLEFE

13. SEGMENT INFORMATION 13. 2 EH

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” with
effect from 1 April 2009. HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard
that requires operating segments to be identified on the basis
of internal reports about components of the Group that are
reqgularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker for the
purpose of allocating resources to segments and assessing their
performance. In contrast, the predecessor Standard (HKAS 14
“Segment Reporting”) required an entity to identify two sets of
segments (business and geographical) using a risks and returns
approach. In the past, the Group's primary reporting format
was business segments by products or services. The application
of HKFRS 8 has not resulted in a redesignation of the Group's
reportable segments as compared with the primary reportable
segments determined in accordance with HKAS 14. Nor has
the adoption of HKFRS 8 changed the basis of measurement of
segment profit or loss.

In prior years, segment information reported externally
was analysed on the basis of the operation of the Group’s
businesses, including sale of healthcare products and funeral
and related businesses. For the purposes of resources allocation
and performance assessment, information reported to the chief
operating decision maker, Chairman of the Company, specifically
focuses on the performance of sale of healthcare products
and funeral and related businesses. The Group’s operating and
reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are therefore as follows:

(a) Sale of healthcare products; and

(b) Funeral and related businesses

ANNUAL REPORT 2010 R
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

13. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information regarding the above segments is reported below:

(a) Segment revenues and results

13. 2 EER (&)
ARLEDBCERNBEENT !

(a) 7ERARER

Sale of healthcare Funeral and
products related businesses Total
HERRER BERERES @t

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

ZE-BF ZEENE CZE-BF ZEZERE CZE-BF CZEEAE

HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HKS$"000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000

T TEL TER TET T TET

Revenue from external customers REAREF 21,300 19,566 53,205 36,154 74,505 55,720

L
Segments results PEEE (94) (851) 4,077 5,855 3,983 5,004
Impairment of goodwill BHERE (20,473) (20,473) -
Impairment of other receivables HitEWFIERE (25,360) (25,360) =
Gain arising from business combination  EHA BFE £ 2 W - 33,551
Goodwill arising from business B3 b

combination written off EEZBE - (25,224)
Unallocated corporate income RABzEBRA 176 601
Unallocated corporate expenses APBzEEREY (5419)  (14,331)
Finance costs HEER (1,047) (717)
Income tax Fi&H (1,537) (2,265)
Loss for the year EEER (49,677) (3,381)
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 BZ=Z—-ZF=A=1+—-BLFE

13. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities

3. 7 EER (&)
(b) ?BEERERE

Sale of healthcare Funeral and
products related businesses Total
HERRER BREREBEYR @t

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

“E-BF ZEBENE CZE-BF ZEBENE CZE-BF ZZEAE

HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HKS$' 000 HK$' 000 HKS$' 000 HK$' 000

FHER TET THEx TER FET Thx

Segment Assets PEERE 7,644 8516 315273 314685 322917 323,201

Goodwil EES - - 9,286 29,733 9,286 29,733

Unallocated assets RPBEE 87,780 4,248

Consolidated assets GREE 419,983 357,182

Segment liabilities AEEfE 1 443 112,070 91,649 112,081 92,092

Unallocated liabilities K*PBER 572 162

Consolidated liabilities GREE 112,653 92,254

Capital expenditure ERMEY - 27 7,040 10,847 7,040 10,874

Unallocated capital expenditure ROBEARR 11 =

7,051 10,874

Depreciation and amortisation RERBH - 8 7,224 5,065 7,224 5,073
Unallocated depreciation and ROBEREREHE

amortisation 39 -

) 1,263 5,073

(c) Geographical information () HEEHR

The Group's sale of healthcare products is located in Hong
Kong and operation of funeral and related businesses is

located in the PRC.

The following is an analysis of the turnover and non-current

assets by geographical area:

AEEEERBERDUNE
BERABEEEIURTE -

UTREBBE S 2 ERERFRDEE

oA

Turnover by

geographical markets

Non-current assets

BwEMSE D 2 EEH ERBEE
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-2F ZTTNE CZEB-TF CZTTNHF
HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000
TET TET FTER TET
Hong Kong 58 21,300 19,566 42 103
PRC H 53,205 36,154 160,731 182,098
74,505 55,720 160,773 182,201

(d) Information about major customers (d) EEEFZEH

During the years 2010 and 2009, all healthcare products

were sold to one customer.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED

14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS
(i) Directors’ emoluments
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the Company’s

14 ESRIEREHEECHE

(i) EEMs
ENAENARAEESZMENT

directors are as follows:

Contribution
Salaries to retirement
and other  Share-based benefits
2010 Fees benefits ~ payments schemes Total
§ek RHORER BHEF
“E-3% ne b FlE 2R HEZER L
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
TEn TEn TAn TEn Thn
Executive Directors unEs
Mr. Chu Hong Pong ﬁiﬁéiﬂ%i - 1,030 - 1 1,041
Ms. Tong Pui Chi, Lucia B2
(resigned on 30 November 2009) E" e gﬂﬁ‘l‘ B=THEE) - 452 - 9 461
Mr. Law Kwok Chung EERLE
(resigned on 17 November 2009) (R=ZZNET-AT+LH) - 360 - 8 368
Dr. Nel Kai Gu BaXEL
(resigned on 30 November 2009) (RZZEZNET-B=THEME) - - - - -
Mr. Lam Wing Tai HkEEE
(appointed on 19 October 2009) (RZEZNETAThBEZA) 27 - - - 27
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau EXREE
(appointed as non-executive director ~ (R=EEAF+ATNAEZRE
on 19 October 2009 and BEYTESRIN-ZENE
re-designated from non-executive t-A=tHA%HTES
director to executive director RERHTES)
on 30 November 2009) 27 - - - 21
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Chu Kar Wing REREE
(resigned on 20 November 2009) (RZEENE+-BZ+HEME) 110 - - - 110
Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam) BEEMEL
(resigned on 18 September 2009) (RZZERENATN\AEE) 56 - - - 56
Mr. Ku Ling Yu, John BREELE
(resigned on 20 November 2009) (R=EEAFT-A-THER) 110 - - - 110
Mr. Loke Che Chan, Gilbert BEEELE
(appointed on 18 September 2009  (R=ZEAFNA+N\BEZE
and resigned on 1 January 2010) RR=Z-25-B-AEH) 34 - - - 34
Mr. Man Kwok Leung EAR%E
(appointed on 20 November 2009)  (R=ZEAF+-A=THEZM) 2 - - - 2
Dr. Wong Yun Kuen ERERL
(appointed on 20 November 2009)  (R=ZEAF+-A=1+HEZH) 2 - - - 2
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth FHERE
(appointed on 1 January 2010) (R=B-ZE-F-REZH) 15 - - - 15
423 1,842 - 28 2,293
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(i) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

IﬁﬂxﬁﬁﬁAT

LEiB L Zan S SR ges sl

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %&&H I%#ﬁ% II:.I |

Z-FF=A=t-ALFE

14. ESRIEREFREZHE (A)

() E=M= (&)

Contribution
Salaries to retirement
and other  Share-based benefits
2009 Fees benefits payments schemes Total
HeR RORER BAEA
“EENE #e AfhFls R HEZER %
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
THAT THT ThARL ThARL ThR
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Chu Hong Pong RERRE - 1308 - 12 1320
Ms. Tong Pui Chi, Lucia ERZ/A - 527 - 12 539
Mr. Law Kwok Chung BEBEE - 526 - 12 538
Mr. Li Heguo FHE%E
(resigned on 15 December 2008) (RZEENETZBTHARME) - 720 - 9 729
Mr. Li Junhong THERAE
(resigned on 15 December 2008) (R=EENF+-ATRARE) - 360 - 8 368
Mr. An Jinping ZHYEE
(resigned on 15 December 2008) (RZEENETZETRARME) - 80 - 4 84
Mr. Wong Ching THEE
(appointed on 29 December 2008 (R=BENF+-A-thREZH
& resigned on 6 March 2009) RRZEZENF=F/HEE) = 100 = = 100
Mr. Liu Jing A k4
(resigned on 6 March 2009) (R=ZENE=ZR~AEE) 10 995 - 9 1,014
Dr. Neil Kai Gu PN ks
(re-dlesignated from non-executive (R=BENETZA=TNA
director to executive director BFHTESHEAUTES)
on 29 December 2008) - 40 - - 40
Non-Executive Directors FHTES
Dr. Neil Kai Gu PNk
(re-designated from non-executive (R=BENETZA=TNH
director to executive director BFHTESREAUTES)
on 29 December 2008) 180 - - - 180
Independent Non-executive BUkHTES
Directors
Mr. Chu Kar Wing REREE 102 - - - 102
Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hiu Lam) EEMEL 102 = = = 102
Mr. Ku Ling Yu, John BRELE 102 - - - 102
49 4,656 - 66 5,218
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

0}

(ii)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to any of the directors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for the loss of office
(2009: Nil).

There was no emoluments waived by any directors
during the year. In previous year, Dr. Neil Kai Gu waived
emoluments of HK$20,000.

The directors consider that they are the only key
management personnel of the Group and details for their
compensation have been set out above.

Five highest paid employees

During the year, the five highest paid individuals included
four directors (2009: five), details of whose emoluments
are set out above. The emoluments of the remaining non-
director highest paid individual are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

14. ESRIEREHREZHE (A)

() E=M=(A)
RAFER  AEETENAHETES

ERMAREEE SRR MAREE 2R
SHRERBBoBE(C2TINF  8) -

RAEFEATETNESHERE - RE
FE B AELTHREMNE£20,0008 T -

EERR RERFEHERZIEEE
AE AEARSZHESREHNLEX

(i) EEBEFHES
FR AEBRBHFATEENZRES (=
ZENE HE) HMEFHBEERNLEX
Y BTREHFALGEES) 2Mem
T

2010 2009

—E-ZE —EEINE

HK$' 000 HK$' 000

FHET FTHERT

Salaries and other benefits ek HMA 196 -
Contributions to retirement benefits RIREA GBI

schemes 7 -

203 -

Emoluments of the non-director highest paid individual(s)
fell within the following bands:

BEHFETATZHMENRTIIEE

Number of individual(s)

AB
2010 2009
—2-2%F  —2EhE
HK$Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %£1,000,0007% 7T 1 =
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15. FIXED ASSETS 15. €& &
The Group KE
Property, plant and equipment
% BERRE
Furiture,
Leasehold ~ fixtures and Motor Construction  Leasehold
Buildings improvements  equipment Vehicle Total  in progress land Total
BR -
g% HELE RERRG AE &8 BBIE HETH 4y
HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HKS" 000 HKS" 000 HK$" 000 HKS" 000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000
ThR Thn Thr TER Thx ThR T#n T
Cost: A
At 1 April 2008 R-EEN\E@A-R = = 255 = 25 = = 25
Acquried on acquisition of subsidiaries ~ RIUBHBARBELE 71,791 26,101 8132 6,130 112,154 50,384 1,831 164,369
Additions hE 8,233 347 164 125 8,869 2,005 - 10,874
Exchange adjustments EnaZ (541) (197) (61) (46) (845) (381) (13) (1.239)
At 31 March 2009 and KZZZAFZR=1-8
at 1 April 2009 R=ZZhEmA-A 79,483 26,251 8,490 6,209 120,433 52,008 1,818 174,259
Additions AE 6,611 = 297 = 6,908 143 - 7,051
Transfer & 1121 - - - 1,121 (1,121) - -
Disposals HE - - (76) (365) (441) = = (441)
Exchange adjustments EiSE 241 75 2% 17 357 146 5 508
At 31 March 2010 R=B-FE=f=1-A 87,456 26,326 8,735 5,861 128,378 51,176 1,823 181,377
Accumulated amortisation, depreciation ~ Z3FE  FERHME :
and impairment :
At 1 April 2008 RZEZNEMA-A = = 120 = 120 - - 120
Acquried on acquisition of subsidiaries ~ WREKEATEWE 7376 5,667 1536 2818 17,397 - 208 17,605
Charge for the year EEER 2,468 1,341 660 535 5,004 = 52 5,056
Exchange adjustments EiaE (67) (46) 13) 23) (143) - 0 (145)
At 31 March 2009 and RZZRNEZA=t-A
at 1 April 2009 R=2EMEMA-H 9,783 6,962 2,303 3330 2378 - 258 22,636
Charge for the year EEER 3,860 1,804 865 682 7211 - 52 7,263
Written back on disposal HERER - = (32) (54) (86) = = (86)
Exchange adjustments EiSmE 3% 3 7 1 76 - 1 71
At 31 March 2010 RZE-EFE=f=1-f 13,678 8,789 3,143 3,969 29,579 = 311 29,890
Net carrying amount : RERE:
At 31 March 2010 R-E-2£=fA=t-H 13,778 17,531 5,592 1,892 98,799 51,176 1512 151,487
At 31 March 2009 RZZBRE=A=1-H 69,700 19,289 6,187 2879 98,055 52,008 1,560 151,63

/2
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15. FIXED ASSETS (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

15. BEEE (&)

The Company NN
Furniture,
Fixtures, and
Equipment
B EEBERRE
HK$' 000
TExT
Cost; B
At 1 April 2008, 31 March 2009 and 1 April 2009 R=ZZZENFOA-H -Z2FhE -
ZA=+—-BR=ZENFHNA—H
Additions B 11
At 31 March 2010 R=ZE-FF=A=+—H 11
Accumulated depreciation and impairment: S ERRME :
At 1 April 2008, 31 March 2009 and 1 April 2009 R-ZZENFNA—H - —ZFZNE =
ZA=+-BR=-ZEZNFNA—H
Charge for the year FEEHA 1
At 31 March 2010 R=ZE-FF=A=+—H 1
Net carrying amount: AREFE
At 31 March 2010 RZZ—ZF=F=+—H 10

At 31 March 2009

R-BBhE=A=+-R -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 Z=Z—-ZF=F=1+—-BLEFE

16. GOODWILL 16. &
2010 2009
—B-%F —
HK$'000 HK$' 000
TERT THExT
Cost: B
Balance at beginning of year FOEE 29,733 -
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries Ut B B BB 2 ) B Uk B
(Note 31) (Hfat31) - 28,963
Exchange adjustments EHAE 26 770
Balance at end of year FRER 29,759 29,733
Accumulated impairment: ZiHEE ¢
Balance at beginning of year FYER - -
Impairment recognised in the year FARRDRE 20,473 =
Balance at end of year FREF 20,473 =
Carrying amount at end of year FREREE 9,286 29,733

At the end of the reporting period, the Group assessed the RBEBRR  ARETEEE 2T IRERE

74

recoverable amount of goodwill and determined that goodwill
associated with certain cash-generating units of the Group’s
funeral and related business operations was impaired by
HK$20,473,000 (2009: Nil). The recoverable amount of the
funeral and related business operations was assessed by
reference to the relevant cash-generating unit’s value in use.

The main factor contributing to the impairment of goodwill for
two cash-generating units, Xinjiang Ruilin Zhiye and Neimenggu
Shenghe, was due to competitors emerged from local market
to compete with certain subsidiaries of Group engaged in
funeral and related business operations during the year, and the
management anticipated that there would be a significant drop
in profit margin of these subsidiaries in future and the gross
profits of these subsidiaries cannot cover their operating costs.

ANNUAL REPORT 2010 3R
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16. GOODWILL (continued)

The carrying amount of goodwill (net of accumulated
impairment) was allocated to cash generating units as follows:

7 A

HE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %T B ﬂ‘%iﬁﬂﬁﬁi

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

16. BE (£)
HECEEEGIREHRE) PRTHELR
SENLE:

2010 2009
—E-8F - %5182
HK$'000 HK$’000
TExT THExT

Funeral and related business operations BEREBEER
~ Xinjiang Ruilin Zhiye —MEmRMEE - 11,967
— Qinhai Fuli Fenghuangshan —E58EFEERL 9,286 9,260
— Neimenggu Shenghe -REGHEM - 8,506
9,286 29,733

For the purpose of the annual goodwill impairment test,
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is
determined based on value-in-use calculation which uses
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond
the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated rates
stated below. The growth rate does not exceed the long-
term average growth rate for the business in which the cash-
generating unit operates.

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations:

Cash-generating unit Gross margin

REERBHERENS  EEREELZA
WERBELDREEAEENE  LRARRE
BEMRERFHMBAERANZEER
E-BBISFHAEREBRAKATI 2 st
FIRIEE - THKEERN  BEREXFTSBBE
EREEBCRPFYERE -

AEEREEMFAZEIERR

Growth rate Discount rate

EEREEN EH=E BR=E g
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
ZE-2F ZERINF ZEB-BF ZEENF ZZ-Bf ZZTNF
% % % % % %
Xinjiang Ruilin Zhiye HMBmMER 60 70 4 5 8 8

Qinhai Fuli BEEA

Fenghuangshan EE L 70 70 4 5 8 8
Neimenggu Shenghe ARG EA 60 70 4 8 8

Management determined the budgeted gross margin based on
past performance and its expectation for market development.
The weighted average growth rates used are consistent with the
forecasts in industry trends. The discount rates used are pre-tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments.

No impairment is recognised for cash-generating unit, Qinhai
Fuli Fenhuangshan, for the year as its estimated recoverable
amount is higher than the carrying amount.

EEENREBARBAASTSRREER
BEMER - FisrAzmEFIIERREERB
BHRERE - MERZBRRTIBA - XL
RBREEI B2 ERR -

FR HRELRSENFTBEABEL 2
STARERESRIREE  SCREREERE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZ=Z—-ZF=A=1+—-BLEE

17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. Rt B EE
Golf club membership
ERAELHEEER
HK$'000
FH7
Cost: A
At 1 April 2008 R=ZZZENFMNA—A -
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries s B Y B A ) B UL 864
Exchange adjustments BN RE 2)
At 31 March 2009 and at 1 April 2009 RIEZFAF=A=+-HR-ZTAFWNA—A 862
Disposals HE (862)
At 31 March 2010 R-ZE-ZF=ZA=+—-8H -
Accumulated amortisation and impairment: RITBHERREE :
At 1 April 2008 R-ZEZENFNA—H -
Charge for the year FEEH 17
At 31 March 2009 and at 1 April 2009 R-EZENF=ZA=+-HER=-ZZNFENA—A 17
Written back on disposal & B El (17)
At 31 March 2010 R-ZE-ZF=ZA=+t—H -
Carrying amount: ARMEE
At 31 March 2010 R-ZZE-FF=ZA=1+—H =
At 31 March 2009 R-ZZEEAF=ZA=1—8 845
The golf club membership was disposed of during the year. SR ELNEEERRERNTLE -
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18. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

18. RIB R B2 RE
The Company

b NG|
2010 2009
—2-ZF —EENE
HK$' 000 HK$’000
FEx TExT
Unlisted shares, at cost FEERRG  BEAR 40,000 40,000
Provision for impairment losses HEEERE (40,000) (40,000)

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March
2010, which materially affected the Group's results or net assets,
are set out in Note 38 to financial statements.

HAGEXEAREEFEELEAREZAR
AEEMBLARAR-E-TF=A=t-HZ
BRI RM S

19. INVENTORIES 19. &
The Group
REH
2010 2009
—E-FF —EENF
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
FERx TET
Funeral products BHEER
— Materials and consumables -REHREER 84 2,318
— Work in progress —-HFEEIR 21 1,622
— Finished goods — B 47,628 48,149
47,733 52,089
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZ=Z—-ZF=A=1+—-BLEE

20. AMOUNTS DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES 20. FEURFH S 1 RIKIA
The Company
P N/NE|
2010 2009
—E-2F —EZhF
HK$'000 HK$' 000
THER TET
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE S MY B A RIFR 1B 189,442 186,820
Accumulated impairment losses: ZITRERRE
Beginning balance F LR (16,271) (42,967)
Written off against amounts due from A B DA JE WP B 0 &)
subsidiaries on disposal FXIE i 8 - 33,342
Provided during the year FRE (29,494) (6,646)
Ending balance FREER (45,765) (16,271)
Carrying amounts REE 143,677 170,549
The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free EURHBARZHENEER RERERE
and repayable on demand. SRIEIE o
21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. BYURR R H fth FE W K8
The Group The Company
rEE PN
2010 2009 2010 2009

—2-2F “TTHEF -T-%F —FTNR
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR T T#RT TET

Trade receivables JE UL BR 3R 5,907 4,264 - =
Deposits, prepayments and other e HEARER
receivables (Note i) H i fE T IE
(Hizti) 105,156 76,084 30,153 146
Amounts due from minority shareholders ~ FEWHI B A 72
of subsidiaries (Note i) DE R RAIE
(Hittii) 9,977 5,678 - =
Amounts due from directors of EWHMBARZ
subsidiaries (Note ii) EERIE (M) 1,478 1,925 - =
Amount due from a related company BYHEARZ
of subsidiary (Note ij) —EE% AT
R (Hfatii) 16,302 10,704 - -
138,820 98,655 30,153 146
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ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 21. B R R E o B W R (&)
The aging analysis of trade receivables is as follows: FBWERR ZIREDTMT ¢
The Group
rEE
2010 2009
— ZEENE
HK$'000 HK$' 000
THER THET
0 to 30 days 0Z30H 1" 3,944
31 to 60 days 31£60H 455 -
Over 60 days 608 £ 5,441 320
5,907 4,264
No trade receivables are past due and not impaired. 3 48 g Uk BR SR E B A T R ORLE o
Notes: oz
i.  Deposits, prepayments and other receivables included a deposit “E-ZEER-ZENFEZRE  BAR
of HK$39,644,000 for the years 2010 and 2009 were related to T8 % H 4 FE W TR IE A P B 38 2 #2 £39,644,000
acquisition of Zhejiang Anxian Cemetary Company Limited. Details BrEEBNIZEREFRETAREE-
of which were set out in the circular of the Company dated 14 BEBE#EHENR AR -_ZEEN\ENAE+ITA
April 2008. TRZBR -

22.

23.

ii.  The amounts due from minority shareholders, directors and a
related company of subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and

have no fixed terms of repayment.

ADVANCES TO RELATED PARTIES

Particulars of advances to related parties disclosed pursuant to
section 161B of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are as

follows:
Name of related party
FBELLIZE xR
Postion diectr of
i 3 sibsdary
HRi7ES

Balnce of the avance i K000
-2t 1 Apr 2008 -H-8%/\EmE-A -
-2t 31 March 2009 -W-BEnEA=1-AR

and 1 Al 2009 ZERAEMA-A il
4131 March 2010 -H-8-352h21-8
Maimim bl ousnding. - BEAERER
g 2010 -H2E-55
g 2008 -H=E80R

EH EER
directorof directorof

3 SUbsidary 3 Subsidry
D [-DEEE
HKS 000 HKS 000

38 13

n

The above advnaces are unsecured, interest-fee and have no
fixed terms of repayment.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the Group and
short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three

months or less.

i. EUMBARLBRR ESR-HBE®HLF
ZHEDEER REREETEENR

2. RFERBEALTZER

BEEBABRGAE 161BRIEEFBL THE
BATZBRUT :

B

R 3 i B BERRI
director of diectr of diectr of diectr of Controlled 3

a Subsidiry  Subsiry a SUbsdiry asubsdary  drectorof subsidiy

il P2 HRLdES HRiES WEiREE  EiMEANES

K 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000

il 19 8 - 10,04

m 199 m 17 16,302

m 8 g} 16,302

M 8 - 10,704
LRBFAEEH RERGBMETERZRD o

23. RERRT
BERRT

e
AEARAEESARERRH

RAZEAREEZRARTER
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZ=Z—-ZF=A=1+—-BLEE

24. BANK BORROWING

25.

24, BITEE

The Group
rEE
2010 2009
—g-%F  —ETNF
HK$'000 HK$' 000
TExT TExT
Bank borrowing RITIEE 3,412 =

The bank borrowing is secured by personal guarantee provided
by a director of subsidiary, bearing interest at the rate of
6.903% per annum and is repayable within one year.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

RITEEDUMBLR - REBMERZEAA
BRIFER  REFE6.903%ME - LAR—
FREE-

25. B RRKEMENRE

The Group The Company
r5E PN
2010 2009 2010 2009

—2-%F -TTAE -B-F -FEAF

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TET TET TET TET

Trade payables FEAF BR X 14,700 26,395 - =
Other payables and accruals HtEARIBER
FEst &R 77,531 49,949 572 61
Amounts due to minority shareholders of ~ EHB AT 2 H
subsidiary (Note) B} RFRIE (MiE) 2,142 1,593 - =
Amounts due to directors of subsidiaries EAMBARZ
(Note) EBFE (M2 3,691 560 - -
Amounts due to related companies FEA MY B A =) 2 BA B
of subsidiaries (Note) NEFRIE (KEE) 1,408 2,651 - =
99,472 81,148 572 61

The aging analysis of trade payables is as follows:

FEARRZREDHTAT

The Group
iy 3

2010 2009
—®-8F  CZEIpF
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
TER TET
0 to 30 days 0£30H 420 1,404
31 to 60 days 31Z£60H 331 -
Over 60 days 60H KA £ 13,949 24,991
14,700 26,395

Note: The amounts due to minority shareholders, directors and related
companies of subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and have no
fixed terms of repayment.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

26. LONG-TERM PAYABLES 26. &HEEMARIE
The long-term payables are unsecured, interest-free and REEAZEDAREE RERDBPAR -
repayable by instalments.

27. DEFERRED TAX 27. EEH A
The Group's major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) not recognised FAEBABRZEIEELHEEE (BF) D
are analysed below: FaT
Property,
plant and Unused
equipment tax losses Total
mE - REBAZ
BERRE BEER BE

HK$" 000 HK$’ 000 HK$" 000
TER TER TER

At 1 April 2008 R-ZEZENFNA—H 15 7,622 7,637
Net change in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) & E KRR 2 ELH 1B

not recognised for the year BE/(BR)28FE (4) 1,196 1,192
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries HEM B A 7 ki - (6,468) (6,468)
At 31 March 2009 and at 1 April 2009 RZZEENF=A=+—H

ER=Z2ZEAFMNA—A 11 2,350 2,361

Net change in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) & R 2 L H 1B

not recognised for the year B/ (BB 28 FE 7) 6,607 6,600
At 31 March 2010 R=—ZE-ZFF=A=+—H 4 8,957 8,961
The Company has no significant deferred tax assets or liabilities AARR-E—ZEF=A=+—H Iﬂﬁﬂﬁ:ﬂﬂi
not recognised at 31 March 2010 (2009: Nil). BREAELHBEERERB (ZEENE .

) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 BZ=

Z-FF=A=t-ALFE

28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. A
Number of shares Amount
[igng 4= #E
000 HK$’ 000
TR TAR
Authorised (ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each) A% (BREE0.04B T2 ZER)
At 1 April 2008, 31 March 2009 and 2010 R-ZZEZENFMA—-RB - ZZEZNE
kZE-ZHF=A=+—H 5,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid (ordinary shares ERTRBRE (BREE0.04E T
of HK$0.04 each): ZEBR)
At 1 April 2008 R-ZZEENFNA—H 1,053,108 42,125
Issue of new shares under share RERDRERTHRG (AFa)
subscriptions (Note a) 150,000 6,000
Issue of new shares upon exercise of TEALRIRIRER R THRD (A1220)
bonus warrants (Note b) 678 27
At 31 March 2009 and at 1 April 2009 RIZEZFAF=ZRA=1+—HEK
R-Z-—Z5MA—A 1,203,786 48,152
Issue of new shares under share RIBRDRBERITHRG (A2Fc)
subscriptions (Note ¢) 240,000 9,600
Issue of new shares under share RERDRERTHRS (A22d)
subscriptions (Note d) 288,000 11,520
At 31 March 2010 R=ZE-—ZFF=HA=+—H 1,731,786 69,272
Notes: Kiat -
(a) Share subscriptions @) BHRE

On 17 July 2008, 150,000,000 shares of the Company were issued
to subscribers at a total consideration of HK$120,000,000, of
which HK$6,000,000 was credited to share capital account and
the net balance after expenses of HK$110,482,627 was credited to

share premium account.

(b) Exercise of bonus warrants

Bonus warrants were exercised by warrant holders during the year
ended 31 March 2009 to subscribe for a total of 678,259 shares in
the Company by payment of subscription monies of HK$311,999,
of which HK$27,130 was credited to share capital account and the
balance of HK$284,869 was credited to share premium account.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

28.

29.

s W78l o8 i

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(c)  Share subscriptions
On 6 January 2010, 240,000,000 shares of the Company were
issued to subscribers at a total consideration of HK$44,400,000,
of which HK$9,600,000 was credited to share capital account and
the net balance after expenses of HK$33,615,000 was credited to
share premium account.

(d) Share subscriptions
On 30 March 2010, 288,000,000 shares of the Company were
issued to subscribers at a total consideration of HK$46,080,000, of
which HK$11,520,000 was credited to share capital account and
the net balance after expenses of HK$33,283,000 was credited to
share premium account.

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was approved on 1 February 2002 pursuant to a
written resolution of the Company.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant options to selected individuals to subscribe
for shares in the Company as incentives or rewards for their
contributions to the Group. The Board may, at its discretion,
invite any full-time or part-time employee of the Company
or any member of the Group, including any director of any
member of the Group and any advisor or consultant (in areas
of technical, financial or corporate managerial) of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries to take up options to subscribe for the
shares in the Company for a consideration of HK$1 per each lot
of share options granted. The Share Option Scheme will remain
valid for a period of 10 years commencing on 1 February 2002.
The option period shall not be less than 3 years and shall not
exceed 10 years from the date of acceptance of option. There is
no minimum period for which an option must be held before it
can be exercised. HK$1 is payable on acceptance of an option
within 28 days from the date of grant.

28.

29.

B2 (&)

Mt :

0 ROAB
R=Z—Z&—A7H » 240,000,000 A2 7]
%12 LA 48 4% f844,400,0008 TEITFREBA -
H 9,600,000/ T E 5t ARAE - MRS
%2 B£8R FEA33,615,0008 TE T AR EE
,E\'E o

(d BRHAE
R-ZZ—ZH=H=+H - 288,000,0008 7
D AR H B 1K B46,080,0008 T BT FRE
A E /11,520,000 7t B 5T ABRAER - 30
R B8 X %% 45 83 7% §233,283,00058 7T B 5T A KR 7
wmER -

ERAERT S
ARERB-REARERR-ZZT-F-R
— RHUERR Rz R 8 ([BARERTE ) -

BREFEEESARADEREATRET
ABALTROZBERE  FARESHAKE
FrEERIc RBAEE - ESETHERF

ARIFAEEEARE XA 2EAEHIFRE
EE ERAKEAMARERAZENEER
ADRREEMAMBER R 2 EMEEHEHA
(BRI - BBREXERER) - UEHT
RBALTRO 2BERE  SHARLERE
ZRERIBR - BREFEKR-_ZZT 5=
A—BEETFHABRETAN - ABRED
FAREABREBBETTIEIR=FRTE
BETF - B BEREBREARTENEF
BeREHE - EANBRERGTZIETARR
A28 A AT o
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZ=Z—-ZF=A=1+—-BLEE

29. SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (continued)

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate
exceed 46,900,000 shares, which represent 10% of the shares
in issue as at 7 March 2002, being the date of listing of the
Company’s shares on GEM, unless approval from the Company’s
shareholders has been obtained. The total number of shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted
and to be granted to each individual in any twelve-month period
up to and including the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of
the shares in issue at the date of grant unless approval from
Company’s shareholders has been obtained. By an ordinary
resolution duly passed at an extraordinary general meeting of
the Company held on 19 September 2008, the total number
of shares in respect of with options may be granted under the
Share Option Scheme was increased to 120,378,613 shares,
which represents 10% of the total number of shares in issue at
the date of passing the resolution.

Options may be exercised at any time during the specified
option period. The exercise price shall be determined by the
directors of the Company, and shall be at least the highest of
(i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated on GEM'’s
daily quotation sheets on the date of grant; (i) the average
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’s shares.

The overall limit on the number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes involving the issue or grant of options must not exceed
30% of the Company’s shares in issue from time to time.
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29. ERERTEI (&)

RIEBERETETREZBERESR 2RHE
HAET1B581846,900,000 K% » HER=
TE_F=ZAtH(RAAROBERERLT
BH) 2B RTRH10% @ HEBERATRE
HEERN - REZREBH (BFEZA) LE
A+—ERHEREERALREREREZ
BRERTERERITREZRTZROBLET
SEBRRHEABZEBTRM1%  HEEE
RAFREMAERD - BE-—BR-ZZEN
FARTABRTZAAARRENAE LIE
ANBBEzEBERER  WEBRE (REBRE
STEERY) 2R EEILZE120,378,6138%
HEBRABERZBAERITROBEZ10% °

BRETNEEZEREDBEARTMERT
FoTHEEARAQAIESBEE  UELAT
SIZEhzEeE  (VRELHBHEAXRSE
AHERSBI 2 AQTARGBUTHE ; (i) BER
HEHAAEEER 2 ARQBRHFHIRTHE
R(i)ZAD B RAEE °

BREBRETENSRBTRRHBREZE
ﬂHM?%ﬁ&&&ﬁ FOEZRAERTE
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

29. SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (continued)
Details of the share options granted by the Company under the

29. BRER & (&)
ARTREAABRERRESERERAR

Share Option Scheme in previous periods are as follows: BEZFBUOT :
Number of share Fair value at
Date of grant Exercise period options granted Exercise price grant date
R
R B TEHE REHBRERE TEE HHAYE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
16 November 2007 16 November 2007 to 105,219,106 1.1 0.0943

16 November 2010
ZETLF+-ATARE
—g-2Ft-A+5H

—ETLET-AtAR

The closing share price immediately before the date on which
the share options were granted was HK$1.1.

The fair value of the share options granted was recognised as
share option expense of HK$9,922,162 during the year ended
31 March 2008.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during
the year ended 31 March 2008 was estimated as at the date
of grant, using the Binomial Option Pricing Model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the share options
were granted. The inputs into the Model were as follows:

Expected volatility: 83.23%
Risk-free interest rate: 2.705%
Expected life of option: 3 years

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome. No other feature of the share
options granted was incorporated into the measurement of fair
value.

No share options were granted and exercised during the year
ended 31 March 2010.

ERREBREZANZROUTER BT

HE-ZEZ\E=-B=1t-HLEERFARE
BRELATERRABRERMS9,922,162/%

7‘50

BE-ZZ/\F=A=t-HLFEAREU
BELFAEERURDAER CBREAFE
BEREAHU-EAHREERA G XE
BREBREZIRT - ZEXBABBOT :

FEERERS 83.23%
EREREE: 2.705%
BRERTER 35

TR AT IR 1B R B I R R S 05 BY R BR R SR B 22 Y £
i BRZARBBET-—ERERER R
BRERAHEMBEFAQRFEZHED -

HE-B-FF=A=+-ALFELHBEY
R 17 (A AR ARAE o
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29. SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (continued)
Details of the Company’s share options outstanding during the

year are as follows:

RN,

PN A SRS

7l
e Sy

29. BIRREST &I (&)
FRRABERTEBREZFEOT

2"'

]
v)\

Iﬁﬁ%mﬁ”

Number of Number of
share options Cancelled/ share options
outstanding Granted Exercised terminated Lapsed  outstanding
Exercise at the beginning during during during during at the end
Date of grant price of the year the year the year the year the year of the year
EPNEATE EXEATE
RHBEH  TEE  ZBREHR ERikH FRTR FREH/ AL ERiH  <BREHE
HK$
ER
2010
i
Directors 16/11/2007 1.1 7,500,000 - - - (7,500,000) -
£ ZEREET-ATA
Employees 16/11/2007 1.1 7,500,000 - - - (7,500,000) -
&g “ERLET-ATRA
Consultants 16/11/2007 1.1 75,000,000 - - (75,000,000) - -
B ZERLET-ATKE
90,000,000 - - (75,000,000)  (15,000,000) -
2009
“E2ENE
Directors 16/11/2007 1.1 18,000,000 = = (10,500,000) = 7,500,000
gz ZE2RLET-ATAA
Employees 16/11/2007 1.1 12,219,106 - - (4,719,106) - 7,500,000
&8 ZEREEt-AtKA
Consultants 16/11/2007 1.1 75,000,000 - - - - 75,000,000
B ZERLET-A15A
105,219,106 - - (15,219,106) - 90,000,000
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30. RESERVES 30. f#fE
(a) The Group (a) X&EH
Share
Share Special Translation options Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total

Rfte®  BHEG ARRE BRERRE RHER L
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
Téx  TEn  TEx  TEn  TER  TEn

At 1 April 2008 RZEENERA-H 82,226 (39,998) - 9,922 (22,327) 29,823
Loss for the year FEFE - - = = (6,290) (6,290)
Exchange difference arising on BESNSEZERES

translation of foreign operations - - (1,243) - - (1,243)
Total comprehensive income for the year  AEE 2 WE% - - (1,243) - (6,290) (7,533)
Issue of ordinary shares REROZERTEER

under share subscriptions 110,483 - - - - 110,483
Issue of ordinary shares upon exercise of  {TEAL MR RERERT

bonus warrants LBER 285 - - - - 285
Transfers upon share options T/ REBREZEY

cancelled/terminated - - - (1,435) 1,435 -

At31 March 2009 and at 1 April 2009 R=ZZAE=A=1-H

KRZEENENA-H 192,99 (39,998) (1,243) 8,487 (27.182) 133,058
Loss for the year ERER - - - - (39769 (39,769)
Exchange difference arising on BEBNEBCERER
translation of foreign operations - - 264 - - 264
Total comprehensive income for the year AEE2ENELES - - 264 - (39769 (39,505)
Issue of ordinary shares under share RERAARET
subscriptions LER 66,898 - - - - 66,398
Transfers upon share options /R K BRE
cancelled/terminated/lapsed LER - - - (8,487) 8,487 =

At 31 March 2010 R-B-BFZA=1-8 259,892 (39,998) (979) = (58,464) 160,451
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30. RESERVES (continued)

RN,

NOTES 10 THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & ?I%?FIIIII? |

7l
e Sy

=

PN A SRS

30. f# & (&)

E

(b) The Company (b) &2 F
Share
Share options Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
ROEE BRERE RiEE #E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT TR TR THET
1 April 2008 R=2E\FEMA—H 82,226 9,922 (61,741) 30,407
Loss for the year FEEFR - - (15,166) (15,166)
Issue of ordinary shares BERDRBZTEER
under share subscriptions 110,483 - - 110,483
Issue of ordinary shares ITREALRIR R e 2 By
upon exercise of BITEER
bonus warrants 285 - - 285
Transfers upon share options 8 /R ILBEREZER
cancelled/terminated - (1,435) 1,435 -
At 31 March 2009 and RZZEENF=A=+—-H
1 April 2009 R=ZZAFMA—-H 192,994 8,487 (75,472) 126,009
Loss for the year FEER = = (31,449) (31,449)
Issue of ordinary shares BRERNABRTERR
under share subscriptions 66,398 - - 66,898
Transfers upon share options &8 /&1t /KB R E
cancelled/terminated/lapsed &% = (8,487) 8,487 -
At 31 March 2010 R-Z-ZF5=A=+-H 259,892 - (98,434) 161,458
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30. RESERVES (continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of the reserves

(d)

0]

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium of the Company is available
for paying distributions or dividends to shareholders
subject to the provisions of its Memorandum or Articles
of Association and provided that immediately following
the distribution or dividend, the Company is able to
pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Special reserve

The special reserve of the Group represents the
difference between the nominal value of the shares of
the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time
of the group reorganisation prior to the listing of the
Company'’s shares in 2002.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in Note 4(g).

Share options reserve

The share options reserve represents the fair value
of the number of unexercised share options granted
by the Company recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for equity-settled share-
based payments in Note 4(s)(i).

Distributability of reserves

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the Company's reserves available for distribution to
shareholders as at 31 March 2010 amount to approximately
HK$161,458,000. (2009: HK$117,522,000).

Z B I* B ﬁ BE n T ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED

30. &1 (&)
() HEXERAR

(1)

(ir)

(i)

(iv)

&Iﬁ/ﬁzz‘ff

REMEHE QAR E (BB - X
RARGEETORRDIKEZ AR
B HABFALRAAMEREAMAR
A BRUEARTREMBED IR
XREE  DEENEERBEFEX
BRRTPHMNES - HAEL DK
XAKRE -

HhIEfE
AREBHRBERARAROGN =
ZEEEFHAARBEEAR W
MEARRN2RABRADTHK
BROROZREEZES -

BE W
BRERBEERREBMEBUBER
EEZHEERZSE - 2RETRE
HRMEAz B BREE -

BRERE
BRERBEARARB ZHEH KT
EEREHE 2DV E  RERKE
AR AER ST XNEERUARGRE
GIPANENTES A E e et

(d) ™2k

EERAE RZE-ZFTF=B=1+-—
B $@1Tfm§§ﬁrzﬁﬁ%
£161,458,0008 T (ZEE N & :

117,522,000/ 7T) °
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31. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 31. WEKEB AR

ANNUAL REPORT

In previous year, the Group acquired certain subsidiaries for the purpose of extending the
Group’s activities to funeral and related businesses. The fair values, which had no significant
differences from their respective carrying amounts, of the identifiable assets and liabilities of

REFE AEEUBETHEBARNRRASEEZRAEE
BoZENBARZATEERSRENUERH 2 THAEER
BEVRABTEREAZR MUBRELHE CAEBEHAR)

those subsidiaries at the date of acquisition and the goodwill arising from the acquisitions, mF :
which were accounted for as business combinations, are as follows:
Beijing
Zhongmin Qinhai Fuli
Anyuan Fenghuangshan Neimenggu Taiyuan City
Investment  Xinjiang Ruilin Cemetery Shenghe Wufuling
Company  Zhiye Company Company  Development Company
Limited Limited Limited Limited Limited
(acquired on (acquired on (acquired on (acquired on (acquired on
7 July 2008) 18 July 2008) 18 July 2008) 18 July 2008) 18 July 2008) Total
TRhRzE HERMEE FHEENBEL ARAENRE ARTIER
REGRAR  ROERAR AERHBERARN  BREELH RAERAR
(R=BENE (R=BENE (RZBENE (R=BE\E (RZBENE
tAtAkE) tAtNBWE) tATNABKE) tATNBKE) tAtNAKE) @zt
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
THERL TiEx TEL TERT TEL TERx
Identifiable assets/(liabilities) Fril e 2 A Bl
acquired £E/(8R)
Property, plant and equipment ~ #1% -~ BERZE 1,100 6,015 15,142 5,043 67,246 94,546
Construction in progress EEIR - 35,930 300 - 14,154 50,384
Leasehold land HELH - 1,560 271 - - 1,831
Other intangible assets HApEREE 864 - - - - 864
Inventories RE = 12,407 8,028 4,941 21,585 46,961
Trade and other receivables ElES &Eﬁb
ERFE 177 11,174 2,812 886 21,354 36,403
Amount due from shareholders U2 %8 - 1,195 - - 996 2,191
Amount due from directors EREZ2HE - 2,007 7 364 - 2,378
Amount due from related EWEE DT ZHE
companies 9 - 8,943 - - 8,952
Cash and bank balances RERATLES 2,843 136 129 195 389 3,692
Trade and other payables A IR R B S50 (31) (14,228) (27,549) (2,309) (6,373) (50,490)
Other payables - land lease HipREAF0E- 1
payments REHE - (11,805) - - - (11,805)
Amount due to directors ERES2HE - (811) (245) = (509) (1,565)
Amount due to related ENBRARZHE
companies (5,186) - (1,475) - - (6,661)
Income tax payable i FrisH - - (131) (1,276) (8,996) (10,403)
(224) 43,580 6,232 7,844 109,846 167,278
Net assets/(liabilities) attributable  3F 12 B35 FE1E 2
to non-controlling interests BE/(BR)FE = (21,354) (2,991) (3,844) (53,825) (82,014)
(224) 22,226 3241 4,000 56,021 85,264
Gain arising from business EREMEEz NS
combination - - - - (33,551) (33,551)
Goodwill arising from business ~ EHAHEE 2 EH S
combination written off 25,224 - - - - 25,224
Goodwill arising from business ~ ¥BAHEE2HBLE
combination carried forward - 11,484 9,119 8,360 - 28,963
25,000 33,710 12,360 12,360 22,470 105,900
Total consideration satisfied by: ~ AREUTHARZA :
Cash Ré 105,900
Net cashflow arising on l&ﬂéréiziﬁ RE
acquisition: B8
Cash paid EffR% (105,900)
Cash and bank balances frkEzBeR
acquired RATEER 3,692
(102,208)
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31. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)

Goodwill arisen from the business combination with Beijing
Zhongmin Anyuan Investment Company Limited (“Beijing
Zhongmin Anyuan”) of approximately HK$25,224,000
was written off immediately as the recoverable amount is
considered to be nil, because (i) Beijing Zhongmin Anyuan
is an investment holding company which will not carry on
material incomegenerating activities and (ii) the benefits
from the business combination with Beijing Zhongmin
Anyuan cannot be separately and reliably measured
in relation to the expected benefits from the business
combinations with other entities being or to be acquired by
Beijing Zhongmin Anyuan.

Gain arising from the business combination with Taiyuan
City Wufuling Company Limited of approximately
HK$33,551,000, which represented the excess of the fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired over
the cash consideration paid, was recognized immediately in
the income statement.

Goodwill arisen from the business combinations with
Xinjiang Ruilin Zhiye Company Limited, Qinhai Fuli
Fenghuangshan Cemetery Company Limited and
Neimenggu Shenghe Development Limited amounted to
approximately HK$28,963,000 in total, which represented
premium paid in relation to the benefit of expected
synergies, revenue growth and future market development
of those entities, is considered to be recoverable from
future economic benefits generated from their business
activities.

These new subsidiaries contributed approximately HK$36,154,000 to
the Group's profit for the periods between the dates of acquisition
and 31 March 20009.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 April 2008, the Group's
total revenue for the year ended 31 March 2009 would have been
approximately HK$75,450,000, and loss for the year ended 31 March
2009 would have been approximately HK$336,000. The pro forma
information is for illustrative purpose only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of the Group that actually would
have been achieved had the acquisitions been completed on 1 April
2008, nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

31. WM E R F

() BAFHRZEREGRAT(ARFAR
ZE)EBESHEE 2BELH25,224,000
BILEEME FERARAETKREEEA
THOBERENLEPRZBEAREERA
A HETSETENEAELERAZE
BR()FREELZPRZEERERE
W EMBEERSH ARG T
ABURUEGERBELTFREZE
EREM A -

b) BEAETERERBERAAZEREH
B L 2 W 433,551,000 7T (B A Frik
BAREERARLATFEEBE RS
REZHH) DERKERABER

(0 BFERMEXROARAIF  FEEFN
BELUAERGERDARASE BN
REREELAXBEHELEZBHE
£ 4928,963,000/ 7T (E%Eﬁﬁ,ﬁﬁ%ﬂx‘&
B BWABRRZEERZARTSERR
BB N 2EE) WARTRZSER
BERRELEZEBENZWE o

RWBRHZE-_ZEZNE=A=+—HH
B ZEHWBRARAARNER 2 EFE/RY
36,154,000 T ©

HEWBEER-_ZENFNA—B5%MH 8
HE_ZZNE=-A=+—-HLEEEZHKA
FE# 575,450,000 MBE-ZEZTAE=
A=t+—HIEFEZEBEN%H336,0008TT
BEEREEHARE  RVRFHEWES
BRZZE\ENA-BRRAEEERER
BrWARES  TTEEBRRES 2T -

ANNUAL REPORT 2010 F#R

91



92

Kt

ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED I:I:' E zZ B3 Hﬁ =] FEI n ﬂ

NN A AT

FENE RN A=t

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %&&H I%#ﬁ% II:.I

For the year ended 31 March 2010 Z=Z—-ZF=F=1+—-BLEFE

32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
In previous year, the Group disposed of certain wholly-owned
inactive subsidiaries, namely New Chinese Medicine (HK)
Limited, Wondergold Limited and Harvest Rich Limited, at a
total consideration of HK$3. An analysis of the financial effects
arising on the disposal is as follows:

32. HEMBERF
EE  AEEUAREIBIHELE T2 4R
WEREXNBAT  DHPE(FB)BRD
A EBEEARAIRYFERAA - HESHE
EEZHMBTEZIMAT :

2009
ZBERF
HK$000
TExT
Net liabilities disposed of: FHtEzBEFE:
Cash and bank balances BeRIIBITHER 9
Trade and other payables FESER R R H b FE AT 3K (593)
(584)
Gain on disposal HE 2 W 584
Total consideration, satisfied by: BRE UTHFAZAM
Cash HE _
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEEZRERLFE
Cash and bank balances disposed of: EEZRERBITER 9)
33. COMMITMENTS 33. i
Capital commitments B AR E

At the end of the reporting period, the capital commitments
outstanding not provided for in the consolidated financial
statements are as follows:

RBEEHR  ARGEUBHERABBE AR
BliEREN 2 ERRENT

The Group The Company
AEH ADE
2010 2009 2010 2009

—F-%F —TEAF -B-TF —TINF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TET TET TER TET

Acquisition of subsidiary W B Y /B8 2 ]
contracted for (BRIH)
Deposit paid 2ffRe

124,759 124,759 - =
(36,440) (36,440) - =

88,319 88,319 - =
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34. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF")
Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets
of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group,
in funds under the control of trustees. The Group and its
employees are each required to make monthly contributions
at 5% of relevant payroll costs or HK$1,000, whichever is the
lower, to the scheme. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions
under the scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in PRC are members
of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the
local government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a
specified percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the
specified contributions.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the total contributions
made by the Group to the retirement benefit schemes and
charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
amounted to HK$746,139 (2009: HK$659,020).

As at 31 March 2010, there were no forfeited contributions
available for the Group to offset contributions payable in future
years (2009: Nil).

7 A

HE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %T B ﬂ‘%iﬁﬂﬁﬁi

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

34, RRERIGTE

AEBAMEEACEREES MATIMEATKE
€ ([BES )58l - ZEICEEDNHEAER
ZEENH UHIFTAZE AEERES
ERBRAEHMERHE25%1,000/8 7T (L&
BEAE)FHER AEEREBHEAES
v EEERRRETIABMRERT

AEERTENEAR2EBETIHEMBGE
ECEREBRABANEZHE - LEHE
NRABRFE 2 BEL A0 ZRAERN G EIR
RUETUABBERN - FEEFRBBAZRMKEF
AECEREERSMBEMSRN

HE_Z-ZHE=-A=1+-HLLEEHH &
%Iﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁgimhééﬁwmﬁ¢M%

MR BELNBT746,1398B T (ZEENE .
659,020/ 7T) °

RZZE-ZFZA=1t—-H FA5ELETE

EARFERAHRZRUER (ZTENF:
) o
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 35 MBI A

The Group’s major financial instruments include cash and
bank balances, trade and other receivables, trade and other
payables bank borrowing and long-term payables. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments and the
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

(a) Categories of financial instruments

ARBzIERBTEARRSRRTEALR
FE R BR AR H At PR WL FRE RS BRAN - HAFE
HERRPEARITEE - ZEHUBITAF
BRERS B 2T EZEUBIARRLZ
ERROFREZSRMIBREIINT - &
EEEERESZERARUBRNBERLE
mEE R -

(a) ¥BITAER

2010 2009
—E-ZF —EThE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHRT FET
Financial assets HKEE
Loan and receivables BERREWRR
— Trade and other receivables - EWRS &EIHJFEIIII 138,820 98,655
— Cash and bank balances -Be kBT 72,657 24,237
211,477 122,892
Financial liabilities HEaE
Amortised cost 1285 R AR
— Bank borrowing —-RITEE 3,412 =
— Trade and other payables - ERRRE MBS 99,472 81,148
— Long-term payables - REEMARE 9,769 11,106
112,653 92,254
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2=Z—-Z&=A=1+—-HBLEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Market risk

(i) Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk arises when future commercial
transactions and recognized assets and liabilities are
denominated in a currency that is not the Group’s
functional currency. The directors consider that the
Group does not have significant foreign currency risk.

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets
and liabilities as at 31 March 2010, the Group’s income
and operating cash flows are substantially independent
of changes in market interest rates.

(iii)  Price risk
The Group is not subject to significant price risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the possibility that the counterparty
to a transaction is unwilling or unable to fulfill its obligation
with the results that the Group thereby suffers financial
loss. The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables
and cash and bank balances included in the consolidated
statement of financial position represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial
assets. No other financial assets carry a significant exposure
to credit risk. The Group monitors the trade receivables on
an ongoing basis and only trades with creditworthy third
parties. In addition, all the Group’s cash and bank balances
are deposited with major banks in Hong Kong and the
PRC. The Group has policies in place for the control and
monitoring of such credit risk.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
concentration of credit risk as over 90% (2009: over 90%)
of the total trade receivables was due from 1 (2009: 1)
major customer which had no history of default.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management regularly reviews its major funding
positions to ensure that it has adequate financial resources
in meeting its financial obligations.

35. BT A (&)

(b)

(c)

(d)

™% BB

() ShEEfE
EHERmXERCEIALERERE
UREBEINREEB LI ERER
B AMEBREE EETAREER
I 8B R HNE R o

(i) BE7ERAFEFERER
HRAEBEHZ_ZT-—TF=8
ST-HREEAMBEEERERE
FEBZHEREERERABTZ
TEREER T -

(i) 1B A
AEEITRZHNERERERTE -
EERR
CEERBRRZYAFIRTEZE T8
HEAEESAREE  SAEEAZIHEE
B ERWRIRAMERZE REER
RITEBNGEEMBRRRZEABEL R
EERYEEECREUASEERR -
%%iﬁﬁﬁ@%ﬁﬁé@%ﬁﬁﬂ@m

BE FAEE-EEEEZRENE X
AﬁTfﬁW”_Eﬁﬁﬁg mA &
SERARERBITERIFERNEER
¢ﬂ£¥ﬁﬁ°$%lﬁé@%ﬂ%%ﬁ
ZREERR

RERERR $EIEE¢F§H%’B
HRBEIN% (ZEFTAE  BiBI0%) 2

FE U BR X B FE U — % TENE —R)
FTEEF MEEERFWEENTE -

RBE S @B
REERDESERNE  AREEER
RBHRRBRURTEELEERHES

URBEEERERFECRERRE
LEYKTY EEECHEHNHEFEES

MR AERABEAMBEERUANEH
MBEE-
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36. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 36. EXREE

96

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’'s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to provide an adequate return to shareholders.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies and process during the years
ended 31 March 2010 and 2009.
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The Group monitors capital on the basis of gearing ratio, which AEEREEEGBR (HNNREBEEBRHRULE
is calculated as total liabilities over total assets. The Group's EifE)BEEERER - AK%Z%N%%%E%

strategy is to maintain the gearing ratio at a satisfactory level.

Balances and transactions between the Company and its
subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have
been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this
note.

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere
in these consolidated financial statements, the Group had the
following related party transactions during the year:

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of Directors and other members of key
management during the year was as follows:

EEEBERBMEZKTE R-E-ZF=

The gearing ratio as at 31 March 2010 was 27% (2009: 26%). R=+t—RHEEBBER2I% (ZZZENEF:
26%) °
37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. FREALRZ
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TEEBAEZHE
FRESRHMTEEEASZMENT :

2010 2009

—E-EF —TENF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTER TExT

Short-term benefits HHERA 2,265 5,152
Post-employment benefits BEBEER 28 66
2,293 5,218
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38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31

March 2010 and 31 March 2009 are as follows:

38. TEM B R RS
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Zt-RARAZEEMNBATFENOT :

Issue and Proportion of
Place of paid up capital/ nominal value of
incorporation/ Form of registered issued capital/registered
Name of Company operation legal entity capital capital held by the Company  Principal activities
BRR AAAREERARE
WEAREH AMAL/ EXEE  EERRER fR/HRRE  EE/HERERELR IERH
Directly  Indirectly
E% ]
% %
New Chinese Medicine (BVI) Limited ~ British Virgin Islands Limited liability company ~ Ordinary US$200 100% - Investment holding
AERLEE BRERARA EBR00ET (Hong Kong)
REER (54)
New Chinese Medicine Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company ~ Ordinary HK$10,000 - 100% Investment holding and
HEEERAA A ARERAT ZER10,0008T provision of secretarial
services (Hong Kong)
REBRREMAERE
(&#)
NCM Group (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands Limited liability company ~ Ordinary US$1 100 = Investment holding
ABRLHE ERERLR LERIZR (Hong Kong)
REER (F#)
NCM Healthcare Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company ~ Ordinary HK§2 - 100% Trading of healthcare
HEERBERLA B ARERAF LERET products (Hong Kong)
REERES (BR)
NCM Healthcare (HK) Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company ~ Ordinary HK$2 - 100% Trading of healthcare
HEERE(BE)ERLAA EE ERERAT LER AR products (Hong Kong)
REERES (BR)
Asia Honest (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company ~ Ordinary HK§1 = 100% Investment holding
AT (R ERAT £4 EREFLH LERIER REER
Quick Faith Limited British Virgin Islands Limited liability company ~ Ordinary US§1 - 100% Inactive (Hong Kong)
ZBELEE ERERAR LERIZ gRex(3R)
TR RZESEZARRA The People’s Republic ~ Limited liability company ~ HK$20,000,000 = 100% Business Consultancy
of China BRERLT 20,000,000 0 (The People’s Republic
mEARLNE of China)
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38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 38. B A RIS (&)

(continued)
Issue and Proportion of
Place of paid up capital/ nominal value of
incorporation/ Form of registered issued capital/registered
Name of Company operation legal entity capital capital held by the Company  Principal activities
BRTR AAABACRARE
WEARZH AL/ EEnE  EEEREN BE/HRRE  EE/ERERESR ITEK
Directly Indirectly
E% 3
% %
IRHPRZERERRAR The People’s Republic ~ Limited lability company ~ RMB10,000,000 - 100% Investment holding
of China BRERLT AR 10,000,000 (The People’s Republic
mEAREAE of China)
REER (PEARLNE)
HERNEERAERAR The People’s Republic ~ Limited liability company ~ RMB50,000,000 = 51% Funeral and related business
of China BREALF AEH50,000,0007 (The People’s Republic
mEARLAE of China)
RERRBER
(PEARLHE)
EEENEBLAEEREMAT  ThePeople's Republic  Limited liabiity company ~ RMB10,000,000 - 52% Funeral and related business
of China ERERLF AE10,000,000% (The People’s Republic
BEARLAE of China)
RERRBER
(FEARLAE)
RELENEREREALT The People’s Republic  Limited liability company ~ RMB3,000,000 - 51% Funeral and related business
of China BRERLF AEH3,000,0007 (The People’s Republic
hEAREAE of China)
RERRBER
(PEARLHE)
AETRRERRAERAR The People’s Republic ~ Limited liability company ~ RMB30,000,000 = 51% Funeral and related business
of China ARERLF AE#30,000,0007 (The People’s Republic

hEARLAE of China)
RERRELR
(FEARLENE)

BENBAAEEEMREAFETERIRE
ERNEARETFE2EBES

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.
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41.
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EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 26 April 2010, the Company announced to grant
120,376,000 share options to eligible grantees to subscribe
for an aggregate of 120,376,000 new shares of HK$0.04 each
in the share capital of the Company. Details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 26 April 2010.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

As a result of the application of HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) -
Presentation of Financial Statements and HKFRS 8 - Operating
Segments, certain comparative figures have been adjusted
to conform to the current year's presentation and to provide
comparative amounts in respect of items disclosed for the first
time in 2010.

APPROVAL OF ACCOUNTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Company’s Board of directors on
June 28, 2010.
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RZZE-ZENA=+H AQAFAEMEE
BREFEAEH120,376,0000 BIRHE - URE
RARRAFE 120,376, oooﬂi’éﬂi@@o 04
BRLZHKRM - FEEARRDIR =&
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EBHF

EEAEBEFENE IR (ZETLFLBT)
EUE?H%%&%%&E%E?H%%&%EEI%S%;L

A8 ETHRBFLCEEARUFERE

EZ28BAX  EREAR-Z-SFKEZ

BEARHLEHF -

fit R B
ARBEEEN-F—
RRETIRMBEE -

ZERNAZTNBH#E

ANNUAL REPORT 2010 3R

A

99



-

i Rﬂ \ i .
BER AT
i RN PN RN AT SRSRAE

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY E&EBEHE

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HZ=Z—-ZF=A=1+—-BLEE

ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED # E % =
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The summarised consolidated results, assets and liabilities of the REBBEAETBEEvGEEE BERERE

Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited (FRREAEEEERGRSUHRR) HYIWT :
consolidated financial statements of the Group, were set out below:

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-HLEE
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
—EERE ZETtHFE ZZTEN\F ZBENF ZFE-ZF
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000
TET THET TERT TET TR

RESULTS E
Turnover 2 9,016 14,692 29,776 55,720 74,505
Loss before tax B ATE B (1,332) (6,628) (13,369) (1,116) (48,140)
Income tax FiEH - = = (2,265) (1,537)
Loss for the year rEEER (1,332) (6,628) (13,369) (3,381)  (49,677)
Attributable to: FEq
Owners of the Company RAFEE A (1,332) (6,628) (13,369) (6,290) (39,769)
Non-controlling interest FERER = = = 2,909 (9,908)
As at 31 March
R=B=+-H
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
ZEERE ZEELF ZEENF ZZEEhF ZE-ZF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
FTERT FET FAET FTHT TR
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Total assets BEBE 15,596 20,315 73,503 357,182 419,983
Total liabilities EEH% (13,606) (5,083) (1,555) (92,254)  (112,653)
Net assets EEFE 1,990 15,232 71,948 264,928 307,330
Non-controlling interest IR E R = = = 83,718 77,607
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